Force information integration in the primate fronto-parietal reach network

Dissertation for the award of the degree "Doctor rerum naturalium" of the Georg-August-Universität Göttingen

within the doctoral program Systems Neuroscience

of the Georg-August University School of Science (GAUSS)

submitted by

Julia Wanda Nowak

from Berlin

Göttingen, 2022

Thesis committee

Prof. Dr. Alexander Gail (supervisor)

Sensorimotor Group, Cognitive Neuroscience Laboratory German Primate Center – Leibniz Institute for Primate Research, Goettingen, Germany

Dr. Igor Kagan

Decision and Awareness Group, Cognitive Neuroscience Laboratory German Primate Center – Leibniz Institute for Primate Research, Goettingen, Germany

Prof. Dr. Annekathrin Schacht

Department of Affective Neuroscience and Psychophysiology, Georg-Elias-Mueller-Institute of Psychology, Georg-August-University Goettingen, Germany

Dr. Pierre Morel

Université Littoral Côte d'Opale, Université Lille, Université Artois, ULR 7369 - URePSSS - Unité de Recherche Pluridisciplinaire Sport Santé Société, F-59140 Dunkerque, France

Members of the examination board

Prof. Dr. Alexander Gail (first referee)

Dr. Igor Kagan (second referee)

Further members of the examination board

Prof. Dr. Annekathrin Schacht

Dr. Pierre Morel

Prof. Dr. Hansjörg Scherberger

Neurobiology Laboratory, German Primate Center – Leibniz Institute for Primate Research, Goettingen, Germany

Prof. Dr. Ralf Heinrich

Department of Cellular Neurobiology, Georg-August-University Goettingen, Germany

Date of the oral examination: 24th of November 2022

For my family.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	III
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1. From vision to visually guided voluntary actions	2
1.2. The primate fronto-parietal grasp network	4
1.3. Force encoding in the fronto-parietal grasp network	6
1.3.1. Force encoding in the hand area of the primary motor cortex	7
1.3.2. Force encoding in the ventral premotor cortex	8
1.3.3. Force encoding in the anterior intraparietal area	9
1.4. The primate fronto-parietal reach network	10
1.5. Force encoding in the primate fronto-parietal reach network	12
1.5.1. Force encoding in the arm area of the primary motor cortex	13
1.5.2. Force encoding in the dorsal premotor cortex	14
1.5.3. Force encoding in the parietal reach region	15
1.6. Mechanisms of effort-guided action selection	15
1.7. Aims of this thesis	17
1.8. Overview of thesis chapters	17
Chapter 2. Decoding intended and executed reach force in the macaque fronte parietal	roach
network	19
2.1. Abstract	20
2.2. Introduction	21
2.3. Methods	24
2.3.1. Subjects	24
2.3.2. Experimental setup	25
2.3.3. Experimental design: A memory-guided center-out reach task with force-loaded r	eaches26
2.3.4. Behavioral data analysis	
2.3.5. Neural recordings	29
2.3.6. Neural data analysis	
2.4. Results	
2.4.1. Movement velocities adjust fast to force changes, indicating that monkeys are acc	urately
anticipating the force	
2.4.2. Neurons in the fronto-parietal reach network are sensitive for intended and execut	ed reach
force	
2.4.3. Neural populations the fronto-parietal reach network do not show systematic sens	itivity to
the intended or executed reach force	
2.4.4. Executed reach force can be decoded from neural populations in the fronto-pariet	il reach
network	
2.5. Discussion	
2.5.1. Summary of results	
2.5.2. Force selectivity in the primary motor cortex, premotor cortex and parietal cortex	
2.6. Figures and tables	40
Chapter 3: Decoding intended and executed reach effort during effort-guided reach sele	ction .61
3.1. Abstract	62
3.2. Introduction	63

3.3. Materials and methods	55
3.3.1. Animal preparation	55
3.3.2. Experimental setup	57
3.3.3. Effort-guided reach selection task6	58
3.3.4. Behavioral data analysis	70
3.3.5. Neural recordings and data analysis	71
3.4. Results	74
3.4.1. Physical effort biases reach selection	74
3.4.2. Neurons in the fronto-parietal reach network encode reach effort	75
3.4.3. Reach effort can be decoded from neural population activity in the fronto-parietal reach	
network	77
3.5. Discussion	78
3.5.1. Representations of intended and executed reach effort in the fronto-parietal reach network	k
	79
3.5.2. Representations of reach direction in the fronto-parietal reach network	31
3.6. Figures and tables	32
Chapter 4: General Discussion	95
4.1. Force information integration differs if force expectations are generated using visual or haptic	;
information	96
4.2. Force information integration differs in simple actions compared to action selections9) 8
Bibliography	J1

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Alexander Gail. Thank you for your supervision and the scientific and non-scientific support you gave throughout the time of my PhD. The challenges we encountered in the time of my PhD together helped me grow as a scientist and as a person. Second, I would like to sincerely thank my co-supervisor, Pierre Morel. Thank you for your supervision and all the time you invested to teach me and to help me. You taught me so much, which I appreciate immensely. Third, I would also like to thank Igor Kagan and Annekathrin Schacht for taking the time to become members of my thesis committee. Thank you for all our discussions, which helped this thesis, and for making our thesis committee meetings an enjoyable experience. Additionally, I would like to thank Hansjörg Scherberger and Ralf Heinrich for agreeing to become members of my examination board.

I am so grateful to Philipp, who helped making this thesis a success. Throughout my PhD you were so helpful, and I value the feedback you gave me on my thesis immensely. I would also like to express my gratitude to those people, who invest so much of their time and resources to make our research possible. I would like to thank: Ralf Brockhausen, Leonore Burchardt, Matthis Drolet, Louis Frank, Beatrix Glaser, Klaus Heisig, Luisa Guo, Daniela Lazzarini, Ronja Mielsch and Sina Plümer. I am especially grateful to Sina Plümer. Without your endless help and encouragement, I would have not been able to navigate through all the challenges of this PhD. You can make the impossible possible.

I would like to thank and acknowledge the animals that make our progress in research possible, even though they will never read this. Thank you: Kaspar, Yoda, Joshi and Vin. I would like you to know that working with you was an extraordinary experience that I will truly miss.

I would also like to thank all the members and former members of our department, the Cognitive Neuroscience Laboratory. I always appreciated the family-like atmosphere and enjoyed working with you. Special thanks go to: Antonino, Bene, Enrico, Irene, Laura, Lauren, Lukas, Max, Michael, Ole, Pankhuri, Philipp, Pierre, Pinar, Sandrin, Stella, Zurna, thank you for all the joyful time inside and outside the lab.

I would like to take the time to tell Caro, Erinn, Lydia and Silvia how thankful I am that we met and how happy I am for the time we are spending together and the laughter we shared. I would also like to tell Sandrin how happy I am that we met. You are always there for me, and I am so grateful for your kindness and your support.

I am so grateful to my family. You supported me throughout my life; therefore this thesis is dedicated to you: Mama, Papa, Daniel, Kamilla, Alexa, Anja, Isa and Damian. You made me who I am, and I would not be the person I am without you.

I saved the last section for the person I am m most grateful to. Philipp, I cannot tell you how grateful I am for all your love and support. You always supported me throughout our past five years and are there for me whenever I need someone to talk to. You are the person I want share the best and the worst moments with and I am most grateful to spend my life with you.

> Julia Wanda Nowak Göttingen, September 30, 2022

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Primates interact with their environment predominantly by reaching and grasping with their arms and hands. To do so, the primate brain needs to generate an internal representation of the external environment. Representations (perception) are generated by integrating sensory information from specialized sensory organs (sensation) such as: the ear (audition), the nose (olfaction), the tongue (gustation), the skin (somatosensation) and the eye (vision). Such representations can be used to guide voluntary actions like foraging for food. Imagine a monkey visually searching for food, for example a fruit that fell from a tree. After a successful search the monkey reaches out to grasp the fruit and eat it. Therefore, primates depend predominantly on their vision and their sense of touch. Both senses are strongly represented in the brain and their multisensory integration is indispensable to perform visually guided voluntary actions. Now imagine the monkey is climbing up the tree, trying to reach the remaining fruits that are hanging in the treetop. While climbing it does not only have to consider which branches it should reach and grasp, but also the force required for both movements to be able to pull itself upwards into the treetop and avoid a fatal fall. This leads to the question how the force, associated with an action, is integrated during visually guided voluntary actions. This question shall be addressed in this thesis. First, I review how the brain integrates visual information to guide voluntary actions. Secondly, I review the fronto-parietal grasp network and how it integrates force information during grasp movements. Thirdly, I review the fronto-parietal reach network and answer how it integrates force information during reach movements.

1.1. From vision to visually guided voluntary actions

In non-human primates the visual information enters through the eyes and is projected on the retina. From the retina the visual information propagates via the optical nerve to the lateral geniculate nucleus and on via the optical tract to the primary visual cortex. There the visual information enters two pathways, the ventral and the dorsal pathway (Goodale & Milner, 1992; Maunsell & Newsome, 1987; Mishkin et al., 1983). The ventral pathway is known as the "what" path, due to its involvement in processing object properties such as their shape, size and color. The dorsal pathway is known as the "where" path because it is involved in processing spatial properties of objects such as their location and spatial relations to other surrounding objects. This pathway is important when it comes to performing visually guided voluntary movements, where spatial information needs to be integrated and transformed to generate optimal movement trajectories from the motor effector (eye, arm, hand) to the motor goal (Goodale, 2014).

The difference between both pathways becomes apparent when one of the pathways is impaired (for example, irreversible impairments due to a lesion or reversible impairments due to pharmacological inactivation). In Goodale et al. (1994), patients with either lesions in the ventrolateral occipital region ("what" path perturbed) or lesions in the occipitoparietal region ("where" path perturbed), performed both, a visual shape discrimination task and a grasping task. The patient with an impaired "what"-path could grasp the objects without difficulty, yet was not able to discriminate the distinctly shaped objects from another. The patient with an impaired "where"-path on the other hand was able to discriminate between different object shapes but was not able to use the visual information to grasp the objects. This affirmed the theory that the visual information in these pathways is used differently instead of the visual information itself being different (Goodale & Milner, 1992). Visual information that enters the dorsal pathway propagates to the posterior parietal cortex. The posterior parietal cortex receives sensory information from several sensory modalities and is supposed to be involved in sensorimotor transformations to visually guide voluntary movements (Andersen & Cui, 2009). It is interconnected with many other regions in the prefrontal cortex, forming a large network, the so called fronto-parietal network.

The fronto-parietal network can be divided into subnetworks which are distinguished by the action modality (eye, hand, and arm movements) they are foremost associated with, as I will describe in this section. The subnetwork that controls ocular movements is formed by the lateral intraparietal area, located in the posterior parietal cortex and the frontal eye field in the prefrontal cortex (Ferraina et al., 2002). The subnetwork that controls hand movements, the so-called grasp network, contains the anterior intraparietal area (AIP), located in the inferior parietal lobe, the ventral premotor cortex (PMv; area F5) and the hand area of the primary motor cortex (M1; Jeannerod et al., 1995). The hand area of M1 projects to the basal ganglia, thalamus, the brainstem and the spinal cord, that innervate motoneurons and interneurons that control muscle contractions in the hand and fingers (Armand et al., 1997; Borra et al., 2010; He et al., 1993; Maier et al., 2002). The reach network, the subnetwork that controls arm movements, consists of the parietal reach region (PRR), a region positioned in the superior parietal lobe, the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the arm area of M1 (Andersen & Cui, 2009). Neurons from the arm area of M1 project to subcortical structures such as the basal ganglia, thalamus, the brainstem and the spinal cord, where they connect to motoneurons and interneurons that control the contractions of muscles in the shoulder and arm (Dum & Strick, 1991).

In the following sections of this chapter, I will describe the areas that from the primate fronto-parietal grasp network (Section 1.2) and reach network (Section 1.4) and how these areas contribute to the control of visually guided voluntary hand and arm movements. Moreover, I will describe how the areas of the grasp network

(Section 1.3) and reach network (Section 1.5) contribute to the control of grip force and reach force.

1.2. The primate fronto-parietal grasp network

The fronto-parietal grasp network comprises the cerebral cortical areas: AIP, PMv and the hand region of the M1. Neurons in AIP encode the type of a grip before (intended grip type) and, to a lesser degree, after (executed grip type) it is being executed (Baumann et al., 2009; Lehmann & Scherberger, 2013). The encoded intended grip type is highly predictive of the executed grip type (Menz et al., 2015; Schaffelhofer et al., 2015; Townsend et al., 2011). The functional role of AIP was shown in a study where AIP was pharmacologically inactivated in a macaque monkey that was trained to grasp objects of different shapes, sizes and orientations (Gallese et al., 1994). Results of the study show, that following AIP inactivation, finger movements of the contralateral hand were impaired because the monkey was not able to use the visual information to preshape the finger posture to the object. Only after feeling the shape, size and orientation of the object, the finger posture adjusted resulting in an accurate grasp. Additional studies show that AIP encodes, along with a variety of grasp types, a large amount of object types and the object location (Chen et al., 2009; Murata et al., 1997, 2000; Schaffelhofer et al., 2015). This confirms the crucial role of AIP in integrating visual information during visually guided hand movements.

Neurons in AIP are reciprocally connected to neurons in PMv (Borra et al., 2008; Luppino et al., 1999; Matelli & Luppino, 2001). PMv and AIP share similarities and encode the intended and executed grip type (Lehmann & Scherberger, 2013, 2015; Rizzolatti et al., 1988; Rizzolatti & Luppino, 2001). As in AIP, pharmacological inactivation of PMv causes an impairment of the contralateral hand's ability to preshape its fingers, leading to a series of adjustments until an accurate grip was achieved (Fogassi et al., 2001).

Neurons in PMv form direct corticospinal projections to the spinal cord and reciprocal corticocortical connections to neurons in the hand region of M1 (Borra et al., 2010; Dum & Strick, 2002; Godschalk et al., 1984; Muakkassa & Strick, 1979). Neurons in the hand region of M1 encode the executed grip type and, contrary to AIP and PMv, only to a minor degree the intended grip type.

A comparative study that investigated how well the neural activity in AIP, PMv and the hand region of M1 can predict grip type and object type showed that prediction accuracy for grip type and object type during movement preparation was high in AIP and PMv, yet low in the hand region of M1. Contrary when predicting both parameters during movement execution the prediction accuracy was highest in the hand region of M1, followed by PMv (Schaffelhofer et al., 2015). Thus, it can be assumed that grasp network is hierarchically structured with AIP and PMv being involved during the preparation of grasping movements, whereas the hand area of M1 is involved during movement execution.

The hierarchy of the grasp network can be examined by systematic activation and inactivation of nodes of the network. Electrical microsimulation of the primary motor cortex and the premotor cortex evoked movements (Graziano, Taylor, & Moore, 2002; Graziano, Taylor, Moore, et al., 2002). A study by Stepniewska and colleagues (2014) that applied systematic activation and inactivation of the primary motor cortex, the premotor cortex and the posterior parietal cortex showed that electrical stimulation of the posterior parietal cortex primarily evoked movements if neither the premotor cortex nor the primary motor cortex where inactivated. Electrical stimulation of the premotor cortex primarily evoked movements if the primary motor cortex was not inactivated. While inactivation of the primary motor cortex

significantly reduced movements evoked by electrical stimulation of the premotor and parietal cortex, inactivation of the posterior parietal cortex and the premotor cortex did not reduce movements evoked by electrical stimulation of the primary motor cortex (Schmidlin et al., 2008; Stepniewska et al., 2014).

In Section 1.2, I described which cortical areas form the fronto-parietal grasp network and how these areas contribute to the control of visually guided voluntary hand movements. The grasp network is able to integrate the visual information associated with an object, for example the object size, to preshape the fingers of the hand before gasping the object. Object size is generally related to the objects weight as heavier objects are usually larger compared to lighter objects. The following section depicts which areas of the fronto-parietal grasp network contribute to the control of grip force and when they are contributing to the control of grip force, to compensate for example for changes in an object's weight.

1.3. Force encoding in the fronto-parietal grasp network

Early theories about the motor cortex suggested that the motor cortex represents muscles or muscle groups (Brown & Sherrington, 1912; Leyton & Sherrington, 1917). As force is generated by muscle activity, the first force-related studies were performed in the motor cortex. Evarts (1968) investigated the encoding of force in pyramidal tract neurons in the wrist area of M1 during voluntary wrist. He examined if pyramidal tract neurons encode the direction of force or the direction of displacement of the flexor and extensor muscle, while three macaque monkeys performed flexion-extension movements with their wrist with different force loads. A majority of pyramidal tract neurons encoded the direction of force and only a minority encoded direction of displacement. The importance of these pyramidal tract neurons for force generation was additionally shown in a study, where the pyramidal

tract was impaired by repetitively induced pyramidotomies (Hepp-Reymond & Wiesendanger, 1972). The results showed impairments of the contralateral hand while monkeys were completing a conditioned grip task with varying force loads. Although the impairments improved over time, even in monkeys with a total or nearly total lesion of the pyramidal tract, a delay in in the generation of the grip force remained.

Building on Evarts (1968), Thach (1978) designed a study where different movement-related parameters (force, direction and position) could be dissociated. He found three categories of neurons in the primary motor cortex, which encoded the force, position and direction. The conclusion that can be drawn from these early studies is that the activity of neurons in the primary motor cortex is associated with movement force.

1.3.1. Force encoding in the hand area of the primary motor cortex

The hand region of M1 forms monosynaptic connections to motoneurons that control muscle contractions in the hand and fingers (Bennett & Lemon, 1994; Cheney & Fetz, 1980; Lemon et al., 1986; Rathelot & Strick, 2006). Therefore, this area is well suited to study the relationship between neural activity and force resulting from muscle activity. In one of the first studies that investigated the exerted grip force in the hand area of M1 (Smith et al., 1975), monkeys performed precision grips against different instructed force loads. Here, a majority of neurons showed increased activity during the dynamic phase when the force was steadily ramping up, compared to the static phase when the force was stable. Only a minority of neurons showed an increased activity when the force can be studied when the area is inactivated. Pharmacological inactivation of the hand area of M1 reduced the monkeys' ability to perform finger movements and decreased the grip force generated by the hand and finger muscles, when monkeys performed a precision grip (Brochier et al., 1999).

These and other studies (Hepp-Reymond et al., 1978; Intveld et al., 2018; Keisker et al., 2009; Maier et al., 1993) demonstrate that the hand area of M1 encodes the executed grip force, during movement execution.

Some studies that investigated the direct relationship between the neural activity in the hand region of M1 and executed grip force in more detail showed a positive correlation between the neural activity and executed grip force (Hepp-Reymond et al., 1978; Maier et al., 1993; Wannier et al., 1991). The strength of this positive correlation seemed to depend on the force level, with higher correlations for changes in force at smaller force levels (Evarts et al., 1983; M. C. Hepp-Reymond et al., 1978; Maier et al., 1993; Wannier et al., 1991) compared to larger force levels (Cheney & Fetz, 1980; Hoffman & Luschei, 1980; Thach, 1978). Thus, the positive correlation might only be present for a certain force range. The theory that the relationship between exerted grip force and the neural activity in the hand region of M1 is linear is therefore debatable. Particularly, some neurons show a nonlinear relation between their firing rate and the grip force, indicating that the relationship between the executed grip force and neural activity in the hand region of M1 could be more complex and might vary from cell to cell, depending on the muscles or muscle groups they project to (Maier et al., 1993). The aforementioned studies additionally indicate that there is a direct relationship between the hand area of M1 and exerted grip force, and that this relationship is complex and not necessarily linear.

1.3.2. Force encoding in the ventral premotor cortex

Another area well suited to study the relationship between neural activity and grip force is PMv. As mentioned, PMv, similarly to the hand area of M1, projects to subcortical structures like the brainstem and the spinal cord (Borra et al., 2010). A study performed by Hepp-Reymond et al. (1994) found neurons, similar to neurons in the hand area of M1, for which the neural activity was positively or negatively correlated with exerted grip force. The overall force sensitivity was on average higher in trials where the monkeys had to perform force-loaded precision grips with two compared to three consecutive force levels during a visuomotor step-tracking task. This finding again indicates that linear correlations might only be present for a certain force range (see also Hepp-Reymond et al., 1999). Additional studies also found neurons in PMv that encode exerted grip force, though to a smaller percentage compared to the hand area of M1 (Hendrix et al., 2009). However not all studies were able to find neurons with such properties (Boudreau et al., 2001), still leaving room for debate.

1.3.3. Force encoding in the anterior intraparietal area

An area of the grasp network whose relationship between grip force and neural activity has been barely studied is AIP. Only one study (Intveld et al., 2018) investigated if the neural population activity in AIP encodes grip force. This study investigated, contrary to past studies, not only the encoding of grip force during the movement (executed grip force), but also the encoding of grip force during the movement preparation (intended grip force) in the hand area of M1, as well as PMv and AIP. Intveld and colleagues (2018) trained two macaque monkeys to perform a delayed grasping task where grip type and grip force were instructed, while neural population activity was recorded in parallel from AIP, PMv and the hand area of M1. Neural populations in all three areas encoded the exerted grip force, while intended grip force was encoded in PMv, and to an extent AIP.

Section 1.3 discussed in detail which areas of the fronto-parietal grasp network encode grip force and if they do so during the movement preparation or movement. Since the fronto-parietal networks involved during grasping and reaching share similarities, we were interested if the encoding of force can be generalized across fronto-parietal networks. We were therefore interested to investigate if areas of the fronto-parietal reach network encode reach force during the movement preparation or movement.

1.4. The primate fronto-parietal reach network

The fronto-parietal reach network is composed of three cortical areas: the parietal reach region (PRR), the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the arm region of the primary motor cortex (M1). PRR is a cluster containing multiple areas in the posterior parietal cortex. This cluster contains: the medial intraparietal area, parts of the parieto-occipital area, the medial dorsal parietal area and V6a (Galletti et al., 1997, 2003; Snyder et al., 1997, 2000). Neurons in PRR preferably encode the direction of an intended arm movement by encoding the direction of a reach goal before the reach is executed (Batista et al., 1999; Buneo et al., 2002; Snyder et al., 1997). Thus, PRR is predominantly involved during the preparation of arm movements.

The functional role of PRR during visually guided arm movements becomes apparent when this area is pharmacologically inactivated (Hwang et al., 2012, 2014). Such studies showed that the inactivation of PRR led to optic ataxia, which impaired reaches but not saccades. Patients with optic ataxia have impaired coordination of the hand and arm during visually guided reaches. They do perceive peripheral reach goals yet have difficulties to use that visual information to guide their arm to those reach goals. This shows, similar to AIP in visually guided hand movements, how important PRR is in the integration of visual information during visually guided arm movements. In addition, the neural activity in PRR does not only increase when a reach goal is visually presented. Some PRR neurons increase their activity when the instruction is given to prepare a reach even when the reach goal has not been visually presented (Calton et al., 2002; Gail & Andersen, 2006), indicating that the neural activity in PRR might also be correlated with the intention to move. A study conducted in human patients (Desmurget et al., 2009) showed that electrical stimulation of parietal regions, homologue to PRR, did not cause the contralateral arm to move but resulted in a strong intention and impulse to move the arm. After intensified electrical stimulation, the patients even reported they had performed an arm movement, when electromyographically measured muscle activity proved otherwise. In comparison electrical stimulation of premotor regions, homologue to PMd, caused the contralateral arm to move, yet patients denied that they had moved. In summary, these results show that neural activity in PRR and not PMd is related to movement intention and awareness (Quiroga et al., 2006; Snyder et al., 2000).

PRR is reciprocally connected with PMd (Andersen et al., 1990). Neurons in PMd and PRR share some physiological properties. Like PRR, PMd encodes the direction of a reach goal before the reach is executed and thus is involved in movement preparation (Crammond & Kalaska, 2000; Gail et al., 2009; Snyder et al., 1997; Weinrich & Wise, 1982; Westendorff et al., 2010).

The functional role of PMd in the preparation of visually guided arm movements can be shown by pharmacologically inactivating PMd. In a study by Kurata and Hoffman (1994), macaque monkeys performed two wrist flexion-extension tasks, where they were instructed either by directional cues or contextual color cues to perform a wrist flexion or extension. The contextual color cues in itself did not carry any spatial information about the direction of the upcoming wrist movement; instead, the monkeys learned to associate the movement type with different color cues. After pharmacological inactivation of PMd, the number of direction errors increased, foremost in the condition in which the contextual color cues was presented, suggesting that PMd seems to be important for integrating contextual information. Following up on these finding, Kurata (2010) evaluated if the integrated contextual information in PMd was arm-specific or independent of the arm used. In this study, monkeys were instructed to perform reaching movements towards a reach goal during unilateral inactivation of PMd. with either the ipsi- or the contralateral arm (relative to the side of the inactivation). The monkeys made significant more movement selection errors when instructed to reach with their contralateral arm by erroneously using the arm not indicated by the instruction. Thus, PMd integrates contextual information predominantly in an arm-specific way, showing how importantly PMd is involved in movement initiation during visually guided hand movements.

PMd is reciprocally connected to the arm area of M1 (Johnson et al., 1996). Neurons in the arm area of M1 encode the executed reach directed, rather than the intended reach direction (Crammond & Kalaska, 2000; Georgopoulos et al., 1982; Kalaska & Crammond, 1992), indicating that M1 is predominantly involved in movement execution but not movement preparation. Temporary thermal inactivation of the primary motor cortex of macaque monkeys that performed reach-to-grasp movements, evoked drastic movement deficits, thus demonstrating the functional role of M1 during movement execution (Goldring et al., 2022). Moreover, neural population activity in M1 is closely associated to muscle activity. Neural population activity in M1 predicts the muscle activity of associated muscle groups (Heming et al., 2016).

1.5. Force encoding in the primate fronto-parietal reach network

As described in Section 1.3, studies that investigated the encoding of grasp force in the fronto-parietal grasp network showed evidence that the hand area of M1, PMv and AIP encode the executed grasp force, while PMv, and to an extent AIP, encode the intended grasp force. Due to similarities between grasping and reaching, it could be assumed that forces are not only encoded in the grasp network but also in the reach network. However, comparatively fewer studies have investigated the encoding of the executed reach force in the reach network. The following section reviews the encoding of the executed reach force in the fronto-parietal reach network.

1.5.1. Force encoding in the arm area of the primary motor cortex

Studies that studied the encoding of forces in the arm area of M1 showed that external loads applied to the arm had major effects on the neural activity (Kalaska et al., 1990; Kalaska & Hyde, 1985). The neural activity in the arm area of M1 is not only affected by external loads, but also by spatial hand position, force direction, and the interaction of hand position and force direction, as shown in experiments where monkeys produced isometric forces by pushing against a handle that was placed at different distinct locations in different directions (Sergio & Kalaska, 1997, 2003).

In a study were monkeys had to perform arm movements with a heavy movable handle, the neural activity and neural population activity in the arm area of M1 reflected the temporal patterns of the muscle activation (Sergio et al., 2005). Furthermore, it has been shown that M1 neurons had directional preferences similar to their corresponding muscle group and that neural population activity in M1 predicted the spatiotemporal patterns of their corresponding muscle groups (Heming et al., 2016). In addition, a small subpopulation of M1 neurons had directional preferences that were opposite to that observed for its corresponding muscle group, suggesting a selective control mechanism when the muscles act as antagonists during reach movement. All those studies suggest that the neural activity in the arm area of M1 is associated with arm muscle activity and that M1 encodes the executed reach force. Yet, no studies, to my knowledge, have been published that investigated the encoding of intended reach force in the arm area of M1, therefore it remains uncertain if the arm area of M1 encodes the intended reach force.

1.5.2. Force encoding in the dorsal premotor cortex

Fewer studies investigated the encoding of force applied during reach movements in the dorsal premotor cortex. In two studies conducted in humans, participants lifted objects with varying weights by applying forces that matched the expected weight of the object (Chouinard et al., 2005; Nowak et al., 2009).

In a given trial, participants either inferred the information about the object's weight from the preceding lift or were informed about the weight via a weight-indicating contextual color cue. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation over M1 disrupted the weight-appropriate scaling of the applied forces based on information from the previous lift, whereas repetitive stimulation over PMd disrupted the scaling of forces based on contextual color cues. This suggests that M1 and PMd might have different roles during the predictive scaling of forces and that PMd may be crucial when force information has to be inferred from visual information. Studies showed that properties of an objects are better estimated, when visual and proprioceptive information are combined (Ernst & Banks, 2002; Helbig & Ernst, 2007). When visual information is absent, force scaling is impaired, compared to when both, visual and proprioceptive information are present (Buckingham & Goodale, 2010). Desynchronization of visual and proprioceptive information, introduced by a visual delay, impairs force scaling, leading participants to perceive objects as heavier with then without visual delay (van Polanen et al., 2019). Therefore, it can be assumed that force predictions depend on visual information or proprioceptive information or both to be generated. All those studies seem to indicate that the dorsal premotor cortex does encode the executed reach force. Still, it remains uncertain, if the dorsal premotor cortex encodes the intended reach force.

1.5.3. Force encoding in the parietal reach region

Even fewer studies have been published that investigate the encoding of force in the parietal cortex during reach movements. Two studies showed that external loads applied on the arm had a minor effect on the neural activity in the parietal cortex (area 5) compared to the neural activity in the motor cortex (area 4) (Kalaska et al., 1990; Kalaska & Hyde, 1985). In comparison, the neural activity in the parietal cortex was less related to the magnitude and pattern of the exerted force. These studies hypothesize that the parietal cortex encodes movement kinematics rather than kinetics. A more recent study conducted in the same research group showed that neural population activity in parietal cortex (area 5) does not reflect the time course of the exerted force or muscle activity, while monkeys perform reaches against inertial loads (Hamel-Pâquet et al., 2006). All those studies are in accordance with the hypothesis that the parietal cortex encodes movement kinematics rather than kinetics. However, recent studies conducted in the fronto-parietal grasp network question this hypothesis (Davare et al., 2007; Ehrsson et al., 2003; Ferrari-Toniolo et al., 2015; Intveld et al., 2018; Keisker et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011). But, to my knowledge, no studies have been published that investigated the encoding of intended and executed reach force in the parietal reach region.

1.6. Mechanisms of effort-guided action selection

Decisions are often made among actions. Thus, it would make sense to assume that decision processes are not separate from sensorimotor processes, as presumed in classical theories of cognitive psychology (Sternberg, 1969). A hypothesis that supports such an assumption is the affordance competition hypothesis (Cisek, 2007). According to the affordance competition hypothesis, when confronted with choosing among actions, the fronto-parietal network creates competing neural representations of these actions. Neurophysiological studies that support the affordance competition

hypothesis show that, when presented with two reach goals, the neural population activity in PMd generated parallel representations of these reach goals (Cisek & Kalaska, 2002, 2005; reviewed in Cisek & Kalaska, 2010; Klaes et al., 2011; Suriya-Arunroj et al., 2019). These parallel representations competed with one another until a reach goal was chosen, upon which the representation of the chosen reach goal predominated and the PMd population activity reliably predicted the choice. Parallel reach goal representations were also reported for other areas of the fronto-parietal reach network, such as PRR (Christopoulos et al., 2015; Klaes et al., 2011, 2012; Scherberger & Andersen, 2007; Suriya-Arunroj & Gail, 2019). While all these studies were conducted in the fronto-parietal reach network, studies performed in other fronto-parietal networks showed similar results (e.g., Christopoulos et al., 2018).

The competition between parallel reach goal representations can be biased by factors that affect the desirability of an action, such as benefits and costs associated to actions. Some studies showed that the fronto-parietal reach network encodes benefit-related decisions variables (de Lafuente et al., 2015; Kubanek & Snyder, 2015; Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011; Ramkumar et al., 2016). Reward, associated to one of two available reach goals, modulated the neural population activity in PMd during action selection, before an action was selected. But such modulations were missing outside an action selection process, i.e., when only one reach goal was available (Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011).

While most studies investigated the encoding of benefit-related decisions variables in the fronto-parietal reach network, it remains uncertain if cost-related decision variables are also encoded. An exemplary cost-related decision variable is the physical effort, which is associated to an action. A study conducted in humans performing a reach selection task showed that force increases the physical effort of a reach movement, referred to as reach effort (Morel et al., 2017). To investigate if the fronto-parietal reach network encodes cost-related decision variable, reach effort could be studied during a reach selection task.

1.7. Aims of this thesis

A substantial amount of studies, conducted in human and non-human primates, have investigated how the sensorimotor system integrates force information when executing a motor command. However, it remains debatable, if the sensorimotor system integrates force information before a motor command is executed. A recent study examined the encoding of grasp force in the primate fronto-parietal grasp network during the movement preparation and the movement (Intveld et al., 2018). The authors reported that PMv, and to an extend AIP, encode the intended grasp force, while the hand area of M1, PMd and AIP encoded the executed grasp force. This would indicate that the sensorimotor system integrates force information before a motor command is executed. If this should be the case, we might find similar findings in the reach network. This thesis investigates if the primate fronto-parietal reach network integrates force information before a motor command is executed. First, we investigated force information integration when the sensorimotor system prepared one motor command. Second, we investigated force information integration when the sensorimotor system had to prepare two motor commands in parallel, in an action selection context.

1.8. Overview of thesis chapters

This thesis contains two original manuscripts (Chapters 2 - 3).

Chapter 2 (*Decoding of intended and executed reach force in the macaque frontoparietal reach network*) describes a study that investigated if the fronto-parietal reach network encodes the reach force, during the movement preparation (intended reach force). We trained two macaque monkeys to perform a reaching task, where reaches had to be conducted against randomly alternating resistive forces. In parallel, we recorded the neural population activity from three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: the arm area of M1, PMd and PRR. The results from our first study indicate that the fronto-parietal reach network does not integrate force when preparing a reach movement for which the force had to be inferred from the force of the previous reach.

Chapter 3 (*Decoding intended and executed reach effort during effort-guided action selection*) describes a study that investigated if the primate fronto-parietal reach network encodes the reach effort, during the movement selection and preparation (intended reach effort). We trained one macaque monkey to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. We again recorded the neural population activity from three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: the arm area of M1, PMd and PRR. The results from our second study suggest that the fronto-parietal reach network does integrate effort when preparing and selecting between reach movements, when the effort of a present trial had to be inferred from the effort of the previous reach.

Chapter 4 summarizes and discusses the findings previously described in Chapters 2 and 3.

Chapter 2:

Decoding intended and executed reach force in the macaque fronto-parietal reach network

Julia Nowak^{1, 2, 3}, Pierre Morel^{1, 4}, Alexander Gail^{1, 2, 5, 6}

- 1 Sensorimotor Group, Cognitive Neuroscience Laboratory, German Primate Center Leibniz Institute for Primate Research, Göttingen, Germany
- 2 Faculty of Biology and Psychology, Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- **3** Göttingen Graduate Center for Neurosciences, Biophysics and Molecular Biosciences (GGNB), Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- 4 *Université* Littoral Côte d'Opale, *Université* Lille, *Université* Artois, ULR 7369 URePSSS Unité de Recherche Pluridisciplinaire Sport Santé Société, F-59140 Dunkerque, France
- 5 Georg Elias Müller Institute for Psychology, Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- 6 Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience, Göttingen, Germany

JN, PM and AG designed the study; JN collected the data; JN and PM analyzed the data; JN visualized the results and wrote the original draft; JN, PM and AG revised the manuscript.

2.1. Abstract

The sensorimotor system takes the required muscle activation into account when a motor command is executed. However, it remains unclear if the sensorimotor system does take the required strength of the muscle activation already into account when preparing a motor command. Studies that investigate the integration of grasp force in the fronto-parietal grasping network show that the hand area of the primary motor cortex (M1), the ventral premotor cortex (PMv) and the anterior intraparietal area (AIP) were sensitive to grasp force during the movement, while PMv, and to an extent AIP, were sensitive to grasp force when the movement was prepared. Due to the similarities between grasping and reaching, it can be assumed that force sensitivity is not only present in the fronto-parietal grasp network but also in the fronto-parietal reach network. This study investigates if the fronto-parietal reach network is sensitive to reach force during the movement preparation and the movement. We trained two macaque monkeys (Macaca mulatta) to perform a centerout reaching task against alternating resistive forces. We recorded the neural population activity from three areas of the reach network: the arm area of M1, the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the parietal reach region (PRR). We found neurons that were sensitive to reach force during the movement preparation and the movement. We used a multi-class support vector machine decoder to decode the reach force during movement preparation and movement execution in M1, PMd and PRR. We were able to decode the reach force in all three areas during the movement, but surprisingly in none of the areas during movement preparation. Our results show similarities and dissimilarities to previous studies that strengthen the argument that force selectivity depends on how force predictions are achieved, either by visual or haptic assessment.

2.2. Introduction

Imagine you are opening the fridge, to pour yourself a glass of milk. When lifting the milk package, you realize how heavy it is and you do not manage to lift the package in the first attempted. This example shows how much the sensorimotor systems relies on force predictions, when executing a motor command with a certain force. But it remains unclear if the sensorimotor system uses these force predictions to prepare a motor command according to the force the command will be executed with. Studies that investigated the selectivity for grasp force in the primate fronto-parietal grasp network showed that the motor cortex is selective for the executed grip force (M. C. Hepp-Reymond et al., 1978; Intveld et al., 2018; Keisker et al., 2009; Maier et al., 1993), so is the ventral and lateral premotor cortex premotor cortex (M. C. Hepp-Reymond et al., 1994; M.-C. Hepp-Reymond et al., 1999; Keisker et al., 2009) and the intraparietal cortex (Ehrsson et al., 2003). This shows that the fronto-parietal grasp force).

A more recent study investigated if the fronto-parietal grasp network is selective for grasp force during movement preparation (intended grasp force). Neurons in three cortical areas, the hand area of the primary motor cortex (M1), the ventral premotor cortex (PMv) and the anterior intraparietal area (AIP) showed selectivity for the executed grasp force (Intveld et al., 2018). Additionally, the authors showed that PMv, and to a certain extent AIP also encode the intended grasp force. This study suggests that the sensorimotor system is selective for force during the movement preparation and movement, when using visual information to predict forces. Neurons in PMv and AIP are selective for visual information (Janssen & Scherberger, 2015), therefore it could be assumed that these areas could play an important role when force predictions rely on visual information. When visual information associated with an object, for example the object's size, was used to infer object weight,

transcranial magnetic stimulation over PMv, but not M1 or AIP, interfered with predictive force scaling of grip force (Dafotakis et al., 2008). Furthermore, stimulation over AIP, but not M1 or PMd, interfered with reactive force scaling, when force scaling was based on sensorimotor memory. However, a recent study showed that transcranial magnetic stimulation over the anterior intraparietal cortex had a transient role during predictive force scaling, when force scaling was based on visual information (van Polanen et al., 2022). All these studies further suggest that visual information can be used to predict forces and that the sensorimotor system is selective for force during the movement preparation and movement, when using visual information to predict forces.

But what if there is no visual information available that can be used to predict forces, as in our example? Is the sensorimotor system selective for force during the movement preparation and movement, in the absence of visual information when only haptic information is available? We aim to answer these questions by investing reach force selectivity during movement preparation and execution in reach movement. Neurons in areas of the fronto-parietal reach network such as the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd; Cisek et al., 2003; Cisek & Kalaska, 2002, 2005; Crammond & Kalaska, 1994, 2000; Kalaska & Crammond, 1995) and the parietal reach region (PRR; Batista et al., 1999; Buneo et al., 2002; Klaes et al., 2011; Snyder et al., 1997) are selective for the intended reach direction during the movement preparation. In contrast, neurons in the arm area of M1 are selective for the executed reach direction during the movement (Crammond & Kalaska, 2000; Georgopoulos et al., 1982; Kalaska & Crammond, 1992). Considering that all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network are selective for either the intended or executed reach direction and that reach force has a direction-related component, it could be assumed that neurons in these areas might be selective for reach force. Especially when their counterparts in the fronto-parietal grasp network are grasp force selective. We hypothesize, if the results regarding grasp force selectivity in the fronto-parietal grasp network from Intveld and colleagues (2018) were independent from the visual information used to predict forces, we would assume to find similar results regarding reach force selectivity in the fronto-parietal reach network. We would expect to see selectivity for the executed reach force in the arm area of M1, PMd and PRR. In addition, we would expect to see selectivity for the intended reach force in PMd, and to a certain extent PRR. We further hypothesize, if the results from Intveld and colleagues (2018) dependent on the visual information used to predict forces, we would expect to find dissimilarities in our results, because in our study only haptic information, obtained in the previous reach, was used to predict forces of the present reach.

This study investigated if the fronto-parietal reach network is selective for the intended and executed reach force and if this selectivity would depend on the information source used to generate force prediction. To do so, we trained to macaque monkeys to perform a center-out reaching task were reaches had to be conducted against resistive force levels (low, medium, high) that alternated in a block-wise fashion. Within a block, the force of a previous trial was predictive for the force of the present trial. While the monkeys performed the reaching task, we recorded simultaneously single- and multi-unit activity from areas: M1, PMd and PRR. Our study shows that neural populations in the arm area of M1, PMd and PRR were selective for the executed reach force, but neither area was selective for the intended reach force.

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Subjects

We trained two macaque monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*; monkey K age: 16 years; monkey Y age: 13 years) to complete a memory-guided center-out reach task were reaches had to be conducted with a haptic manipulandum against resistive forces (Figure 1A). Both animals were trained using positive reinforcement to sit in a primate chair and perform the reaching task while being head fixated. Before entering the study, both monkeys participated in previous research studies and were experienced in center-out reaching tasks but had no prior experience performing reaches against resistive forces.

Both monkeys were implanted with a chronic transcutaneous titanium head holder that has been custom-fit to the skull surface of each animal to allow head fixation. Furthermore, we chronically implanted monkey K with 256 intracortical electrodes using eight floating microwire arrays (32-electrodes, 250 µ or 400 µ electrode-toelectrode separation, electrode impedance 0.4-0.6 MΩ, array size: 2.95 mm x 1.6 mm or 4 mm x 1.8 mm; Microprobes for Life Science, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA) in the right hemisphere of the cerebral cortex. Two arrays were inserted in the hand area of M1 and three arrays were inserted each in PMd and PRR. Monkey Y was implanted with 192 electrodes using six arrays (32-electrodes, 400 µ electrodeto-electrode separation, electrode impedance 0.4-0.6 MΩ, array size: 4 mm x 1.8 mm) in the left hemisphere with two arrays inserted in each of the three cortical areas. The connectors of the arrays were placed in a custom-designed and custom-fit implants to protect the connectors. Custom-fit implants were designed using the software Rhinoceros 6 (Robert McNeel and Associates, Seattle, Washington, USA) and 3-printed (Shapeways, New York City, New York, USA). The procedure to design implants (Ahmed et al., 2022) and the implantation procedures (Berger et al., 2020) have been previously described. All surgical procedures were conducted in a sterile surgery suite under general anesthesia and analgesia. Post-surgical analgesia was administered for a few days after the surgery according to the need of the animal. All imaging procedures performed to obtain the CT and MRI scans, used to plan implantation procedures, were conducted under general anesthesia and analgesia.

All experimental procedures have been approved by the responsible regional government office [Niedersäsisches Landesamt für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit (LAVES)] under the permit number 33.19-42502-04-18/2823 and comply with the German Law and the Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament and Council that regulates the use of and protects animals used for scientific purpose.

2.3.2. Experimental setup

The study was conducted using a 2D-haptic reach setup (Figure 1B) as previously described (Morel et al., 2016). Animals were performing reaches by moving the handle of a haptic manipulandum (Delta.3, Force Dimension, Nyon, Switzerland) with their dominant hand. Movements of the manipulandum handle were restricted within a fronto-parietal (x-y) plane through forces applied by the manipulandum (Morel et al., 2016). The displacement of the handle controlled in real-time the displacement of a cursor, which was displayed on a monitor placed above the haptic manipulandum (latencies of the haptic manipulandum and monitor were compensated for by forward prediction; Morel et al., 2016). The movements of the manipulandum and monitor were sampled at 2 kHz, while eye position was detected by a video-based eye tracker with a sampling rate of 1 kHz (EyeLink 1000 Plus, SR Research, Ottawa, Canada). The manipulandum was connected to a computer running custom software (C++, OpenGL) that controlled the generation and presentation of visual stimuli on the monitor, task event recording, eye position and

hand position recording and force generation. The force generated by the manipulandum had a constant magnitude and opposed the movement direction, similar to a kinetic friction force (Morel et al., 2017). The magnitude of this kinetic friction force was modified to generate different resistive force levels (low: 0 N, medium: 3 N, high: 6 N) in addition to forces used to constrain movements to the fronto-parallel plane. The manipulandum and computer communicated bidirectionally, with the manipulandum sending the position of the handle and the computer requesting forces to be applied at the handle for each iteration of this 0.5ms haptic cycle. Movement position, movement velocity (by differentiating the movement position) and applied force were recorded and sampled at 2 kHz.

2.3.3. Experimental design: A memory-guided center-out reach task with force-loaded reaches

Monkeys initiated a trial by moving the manipulandum handle, represented as a yellow circular cursor ($\emptyset = 5.1$ mm) with their dominant hand, into the circular grey hand fixation area ($\emptyset = 37.4$ mm; 3.2° visual angle) with a fixation tolerance diameter of 3.2° visual angle. After the cursor was placed in the hand fixation area, the eye fixation was obtained by directing the gaze to the rectangular eye fixation area ($\emptyset = 8.5$ mm; 0.7° visual angle; fixation tolerance diameter 5.9° visual angle). Once hand and eye fixation were both obtained and held for 600ms, a circular spatial cue ($\emptyset = 59.5$ mm; 5.2° visual angle), was displayed at one of four directions (0°, 90°, 180°, 270°; eccentricity from monitor center = 60 mm) for 300 ms. The target direction had to be memorized for 600 ms – 1800 ms (uniform distribution). Animals were instructed to initiate the reach movement to the previously presented spatial cue, by the disappearance of the hand fixation point (go cue). To encourage the monkeys to plan the upcoming reach movement prior to movement execution, the animals had to initiate the movement between 150 and 450 ms after the go cue.

0.02 m/s or the cursor leaving the position of the hand fixation area. The 150 ms delay after the go cue was introduced to discourage the monkeys from anticipating the go cue and initiating the reach movement prematurely. After initiating the movement, the monkeys were allowed to end the eye fixation and had 700 ms to execute the movement by moving the cursor into the spatial cue (spatial cue tolerance diameter: 5.2° visual angle, i.e., size of previous presented spatial cue) at the memorized position. In addition, the cursor speed had to fall below a threshold of 0.2 m/s to insure animals stopped within the spatial cue. After the cursor was successfully placed and stopped in the spatial cue tolerance, visual feedback was provided to indicate that the reach was correctly performed. The cursor had to remain within the spatial cue tolerance for 300 ms. Successful trials were indicated by additional acoustic feedback (high pitched tone) and the monkeys received juice diluted with water or water as a reward, according to their individual preferences. Unsuccessful trials were indicated by a low pitch tone and the monkeys did not receive a reward. Trials were aborted and declared unsuccessful when the monkeys failed to obtain the hand or eye fixation or ended fixation prematurely, failed to initiate the movement in time or failed to complete the movement in time.

Movements had to be conducted against resistive forces that opposed the movement direction with a constant magnitude of 0 N, 3 N or 6 N. The resistive forces were applied only during the movement. Force levels were constant for blocks of 32 successful trials before switching. The combinations of movement directions and movement forces resulted in 4 (direction: 0° , 90° , 180° , 270°) x 3 (force: 0 N, 3 N, 6 N) = 12 task conditions, which had to be successfully completed at least 24 times per session. Movement directions were drawn pseudo-randomly from trial to trial, i.e., the task condition of an unsuccessful trial was not repeated immediately but added back to the pool of conditions drawn randomly from. Movement forces were drawn pseudo-randomly from to block, the force of a

previous trial was predictive for the force of the present trial. Exceptions were trials between blocks, where the force of a previous trial was not predictive for the force of the present trial.

2.3.4. Behavioral data analysis

The behavioral and neural data analyses were carried out using MATLAB 2018a with the data visualization toolbox *gramm* (Morel, 2018).

We quantified general performance, as percentage of unsuccessful trials and the percentage of unsuccessful reaches. The first indicates how often errors occurred across trials and trial epochs. The second indicates how often errors occurred across trials during the movement epoch.

To analyze if monkeys could use the force of the previous trial to predict the force of a present trial, we compared movement velocities of trials between blocks, where the force of a previous trial was not predictive for the force of the present trial, with movement velocities of trials within blocks, were force of a previous trial was predictive for the force of the present trial (Figure 2; Supplementary figure 1). We took all transitions from one force condition to another, which resulted in five force difference conditions (-6 N, -3 N, 0 N, 3 N, 6N), into consideration in this analysis. For each trial, we extracted movement velocity 150 ms after movement production and hence serve as proxy for monkeys' motor planning. We used a Poisson-family generalized linear model (fitglm(); MATLAB 2018a) to test if the force difference modulated early movement velocities of the first and the fifth trial, after the force alternated (Model 1). The model included movement velocity as response variable and the predictor force difference (continuous variable).

(Model 1) Velocity $\sim 1 +$ Force difference
If the results of the generalized linear model indicated that force difference was a significant predictor of velocity, we performed additional post-hoc tests (Wilcoxon rank sum test, a = 0.05).

2.3.5. Neural recordings

We conducted extracellular neural recordings while the monkeys were performing the reaching task against resistive forces. Neural recordings were obtained for monkey K from all eight microelectrode arrays and for monkey Y from all six arrays simultaneously. We recorded the signals from each array with 32-channel CerePlex M headstages (hardware filter: 0.3 Hz – 7.5 kHz, sampling rate: 30 kHz, resolution: 16 bits ADC; Blackrock Microsystems LLC, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA), which filtered and digitized the neural signal. The digitized neural signal was sent to the Cerebus Neural Processing System (Blackrock Microsystems LLC, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA). The Cerebus System allowed to extract the extracellular spikes (neural events) from the raw neural signal by high-pass filtering the signal (filter: 250 Hz Butterworth filter, 4th order) and setting a negative detection threshold (threshold: -4.5 x RMS), were extracellular spikes were defined as threshold crossings. Extracellular spikes were manually sorted using Offline Sorter V4 (Plexon Inc, Dallas, Texas, USA). Whenever a channel contained spike waveform clusters, which could not be isolated from the noise cluster we defined the channel as unsorted. Channels that contained spike waveform clusters that could be isolated from the noise cluster were defined as sorted. If spike waveform clusters, in sorted channels, were well differentiable from one another we defined them as single-units, while non-differentiable clusters were defined as multi-units. Single-units and multi-units were treated identically in our analysis and referred to as "units". We derived the spike density function from the spikes of each unit by convoluting the spike trains (spike event times) with a Gaussian kernel ($\sigma = 50 \text{ ms}$). Spike counts and spike density functions (sampled at 200 Hz) were temporally aligned to the onset or offset, respectively, of visual stimuli and analyzed in corresponding time windows.

2.3.6. Neural data analysis

First, we analyzed if units were selective for direction or force or both (Figure 3; Supplementary figure 3). To do so we modeled spike counts using Poisson-family generalized linear models with a stepwise regression (stepwiseglm(); MATLAB2018a). Starting from a constant model with spike counts as response variable, the categorical predictors (direction, force) were added and removed by forward or backward stepwise regression to determine the final model. At each step, the function searched for predictors to add or remove from the model. Predictors were added when the F-statistic p-value < 0.01 and removed when F-statistic p-value > 0.05. Final models could look as following using Wilkinson-Rogers formula notation:

- (Model 2.1) Spike count ~ 1
- (Model 2.1) Spike count $\sim 1 + Direction$
- (Model 2.2) Spike count $\sim 1 +$ Force
- (Model 2.3) Spike count $\sim 1 + \text{Direction * Force}$

Spike counts were aligned for the following time windows: baseline (-300 ms - 0 ms, aligned to spatial cue onset), early movement planning (earlymem; 0 ms to 300 ms, aligned to spatial cue offset), late movement planning (latemem; -300 ms - 0 ms, aligned to go cue onset), movement (mov; 0 ms - 500 ms, aligned to go cue offset).

Second, we analyzed if the neural populations in the fronto-parietal reach network showed systematic linear selectivity of the intended or executed reach force (Supplementary figure 4; Supplementary figure 5). To do so we identified the maximum response direction (PD_{max}) of each unit and averaged the spike density functions of all units of each brain area in accordance with the units PD_{max}, generating the population spike density function. This was done separately for the force conditions. To test at every time point for differences between the force conditions, we used a cluster-based permutation test (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007; as described in Dann et al., 2016). All units that were significantly encoding both the direction and force or the force were included in the neural population analysis.

Third, we analyzed whether the intended and executed reach direction and reach force could be decoded from the neural population using a multi-class support vector machine decoder (fitcecoc(); MATLAB2018a) (Figure 4; Supplementary figure 6). Spike counts of all sorted and unsorted channels were extracted for the following time windows: movement planning (-500 ms – 1000 ms, aligned to spatial cue onset) and movement (-500 ms - 1000 ms, aligned to go cue onset). The following procedure was repeated ten times per area. We selected pseudo-randomly twenty trials per condition for each channel of an area. Pseudo-randomly selected trials were different across channels, but the number of trials per condition was not. The spike counts of these trials were binned in time bins of 150 ms (with 50 ms overlap). This resulted per time bin in a matrix that contained the concatenated spike counts of all channels, with twenty repetitions per conditions. Half of these repetitions per condition were used to train and the other half to test the decoder, with the concatenated spike counts of all channels as input. The decoder was trained using the following predictors: direction, force or both. Predicted conditions (predict(); MATLAB2018a) were compared with the actual conditions to calculate the decoding performance. This was repeated for all time bins. As mentioned, the whole procedure was repeated ten times per area, resulting in ten decoding performances per bin per area. The same procedure was used when calculating permuted decoding performance, except that the spike counts were permuted. To test for each time bin for significant differences between the decoding performance and the permuted decoding performance, we used the cluster-based permutation test (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007; as described in Dann et al., 2016). To test for significant difference between areas, we calculated the time when differences between the decoding performance and the permuted decoding performance became significant and the maximum decoding performance and used the Wilcoxon rank sum test ($\alpha = 0.05$).

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Movement velocities adjust fast to force changes, indicating that monkeys are accurately anticipating the force

To investigate if the fronto-parietal reach network encodes the intended and executed reach force, we trained two macaque monkeys to perform a reaching task against three levels of resistive force (0 N, 3 N, 6 N). The task design encouraged planning of the required force and allowed to evaluate the degree to which animals did so. The force-level was varied in a block-wise fashion, after 32 successful trials.

Within a block, the force of a previous trial was predictive for the force of the present trial and, hence, forces could be taken into account by the animal when preparing the reach movements. A short movement initiation time enforced preparing the reach movements in advance. Movement time constrains encouraged to take the force into account before the movements, to be able to perform movements successfully under the given time constrains (see Methods section). Both monkeys performed the reaching task well with an average of 84% correct reaches for monkey K (74 % correct trials) and 94% correct reaches for monkey Y (83 % correct trials) (Table 1). The high performance provided a first indication that the force information of previous trials was used by the animals to predict the force of a present trial.

Transitions between blocks, instead, introduced non-predictable force-loads on the first trial(s) of a new block. Adjustments of reach kinematics over the course of early trials within a block are indicative of the degree to which the animals actually did take into account the force when preparing movements. We analyzed the effect of altering force blocks on the initial, feedback-independent movement velocity across trials to identify putative over- and under-expectation of force levels in preparation of the reach. In the first trial after the force changed, one of two effects could be observed (Figure 2A and 2B). When the force decreased, the movement velocity increased and movement trajectories tended to overshoot. When the force increased, movement velocity decreased and movement trajectories tended to undershoot. Dependence of velocity from force change was confirmed by a Poisson-family generalized linear model (monkey Y: t-statistic = -4.057, p < 0.001; monkey K: tstatistic = -2.796, p < 0.01). By the fifth trial after the force changed velocities no longer depended on the force level difference (monkey Y: t-statistic = -0.775, p = 0.437; monkey K: t-statistic = -1.063, p = 0.287) (Figure 2C). The fact that movement velocity already adjusted after one or two trials (Figure 2D) indicates that by that time the new force level was known and the monkeys prepared the force of the upcoming reach movement. When the force remained unchanged after a block of 32 successful trials, i.e., the condition in which force change equals zero, the velocity profile was indistinguishable from within-block trials. While reach kinematics quickly adjusted in both animals after a force transition, the reported effects seemed stronger in monkey Y (Figure 2) than in monkey K (Supplementary figure 1).

2.4.2. Neurons in the fronto-parietal reach network are sensitive for intended and executed reach force

We collected five sessions for monkey Y (total number of single- and multi-units: 219) and four sessions for monkey K (total number of single- and multi-units: 241). During each of the sessions we recorded simultaneously single- and multi-unit

activity from areas: M1 (total units: 155; monkey Y: 103; monkey K: 52), PMd (total units: 199; monkey Y: 82; monkey K: 117) and PRR (total units: 106; monkey Y: 34; monkey K: 72).

First, we investigated if the units of the fronto-parietal reach network were sensitive to the intended or executed reach force. For this, we used a step-wise generalized linear model to analyze the tuning of the individual units during different trial periods. Similar to previous studies, we found units in M1, PMd and PRR that were sensitive to movement direction in both the movement planning epoch and the movement epoch. Furthermore, we found units that were sensitive to force either exclusively, or in combination with movement direction (Figure 3). Units with combined tuning showed either an independent sensitivity to both movement parameters (spike count ~ direction + force) or a showed a statistical interaction (spike count ~ direction + force + direction * force). During movement planning, most tuned units in all recorded areas were only sensitive to planned movement direction (monkey Y: M1 47-50%, PMd 73-81%, PRR 41-66%; monkey K: M1 48-52%, PMd 70-85%, PRR 67-83%), with very few units showing exclusive or additional force sensitivity (monkey Y: M1 8-9%, PMd 6-11%, PRR 4-8%; monkey K: M1 12%, PMd 11-19%, PRR 1-8%). During the movement period, PMd and M1 saw a large and PRR a moderate increase in the proportion of units with combined sensitivity (monkey Y: M1 63%, PMd 54%, PRR 20%; monkey K: M1 72%, PMd 35%, PRR 19%). In the baseline period, before the spatial cue, few units were notably force tuned in all areas. During this period, the movement direction is not yet known to the animal, but the force is due to the block design for force. Summarizing, we found single- and multi-units in M1, PMd and PRR that were selective for the intended and executed reach force. Units, selective for the intended and executed reach force, did not show systematic selectivity, where higher neural activity was not correlated higher forces. This indicates that force selectivity seems to be more complex. The percentage of units that were selective for the intended reach force was highest in PMd. The percentage of units that was selective for the executed reach force was highest in M1 and lowest in PRR. In comparison the percentage of units that was selective for the intended reach force was lower than the number of units that encoded the executed reach force (Figure 3C).

2.4.3. Neural populations the fronto-parietal reach network do not show systematic sensitivity to the intended or executed reach force

Second, we investigated if the average neural population activity in areas of the fronto-parietal reach network was sensitive to the intended or executed reach force. We included in the neural population analysis all directional-, combined and force-tuned units. The population analysis tests if a common sensitivity pattern to force was present in the population (e.g. high force = high firing rate). For this, we tested whether the population average of the spike density functions differed between the force conditions using a cluster-based permutation test (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007; Inveltd et al., 2018). We found that the average neural population activity in M1, PMd and PRR was not significantly sensitive to the intended or executed reach force (Figure 4), even though some units of the fronto-parietal reach network were. Hence, we added another analysis that does not require a common sensitivity pattern to extract a general sensitivity at the area-level.

2.4.4. Executed reach force can be decoded from neural populations in the fronto-parietal reach network

Third, we used a machine-learning approach to decode the intended and executed reach direction and reach force from recorded neural activity in areas of the frontoparietal reach network. We were able to significantly decode the intended and executed reach direction from areas: PRR, PMd and M1 (Figure 5A top). The maximum decoding performance of the intended reach direction was highest in PMd, followed by PRR an M1. The time of significant decoding performance was shortest in PRR, followed by PMd and M1 (Figure 5B top left). Maximum decoding performance of the executed reach direction was high in all three areas, and all areas were significantly decoding the direction from the beginning of this period (Figure 5B top right). In addition, we were able to significantly decode the executed reach force from areas: M1, PMd and PRR (Figure 5A bottom). There were some irregular signs of significant decoding of the intended reach force. The maximum decoding performance of the executed reach force was highest in M1, followed by PMd and PRR (Figure 5B bottom right). The time of significant decoding performance was shortest in M1, followed by PMd and PRR. Summarizing, we could decode the executed reach force from M1, PMd and PRR. The differences in the maximum decoding performance, indicated that the neural activity in M1 was most and neural activity in PRR least predictive of the force. Differences in the time of significant decoding performance, indicated that neural activity in M1 predicted the force the fastest, while neural activity in PRR was slowest.

2.5. Discussion

2.5.1. Summary of results

We found neurons in all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network that were selective for the intended and executed reach force. While neurons that were selective for the executed reach force were found repeatedly in all three areas, selectivity for the intended reach force was rare, both in parietal cortex as well as in prefrontal cortical areas. Correspondingly, we were only able to decode the executed reach force from neural populations in all three areas during movement, while decoding of upcoming force during movement planning was not reliably possible in either area. Importantly, our task design did not use visual information that could be used to predict forces. Instead our task design used haptic information, which could be used from the previous trial to predict the force of the present trial. Furthermore,

we encouraged the use of the haptic information to plan the force of an upcoming reach movement. Behavioral analyses provide evidence that both animals indeed did plan the force of the upcoming movement within a few trials after a change in force level. Our neural analyses provided additional evidence that the fronto-parietal reach network is selective for the executed reach force, but not the intended reach force, when no visual information was provided that could be used to predict forces.

2.5.2. Force selectivity in the primary motor cortex, premotor cortex and parietal cortex

This study investigated if the sensorimotor system uses force predictions to prepare a motor command according to the force the motor command will be executed with. Force predictions were generated by using haptic information, instead of visual information. In detail, we examined whether force selectivity in the fronto-parietal reach network during movement preparation and movement depended on the source of information used to generate force predictions. Studies that investigated the selectivity for grasp force in the fronto-parietal grasp network showed that the motor cortex is selective for the executed grasp force (Hepp-Reymond et al., 1978; Intveld et al., 2018). Since then, selectivity for the executed grasp force was reported for other regions of the fronto-parietal grasp network, as the premotor cortex (Hepp-Reymond et al., 1994; Hepp-Reymond et al., 1999; Intveld et al., 2018) and the parietal cortex (Ehrsson et al., 2003; Intveld et al., 2018).

A recent study showed that neurons in the hand area of M1, PMv and AIP were selective for the executed grasp force, while PMv, and to an extent AIP, were selective for the intended grasp force (Intveld et al., 2018). This recent study indicates that the sensorimotor system is selective for force during the movement preparation and movement, when visual information was used to predict forces. Even though grasping and reaching involve separate fronto-parietal networks: the grasp network and the reach network, grasping and reaching are closely associated with

one another, as seen in reach-to-grasp movements. Therefore, it would seem plausible if both networks would show some similarities in their selectivity. Indeed, studies conducted in reach-to-grasp movements show that M1 and PMd were selective for the executed grasp force, with a stronger selectivity for grasp force in M1 (Hendrix et al., 2009). A recent study reports that neural population activity in M1, PMd and PMv were selective for the executed grasp force during an isometric grasp force task (Atique & Francis, 2021). Moreover, studies that studied directly the selectivity for static or dynamic isometric forces in reaching movements showed that neural activity in M1 was selective for the hand location, direction of the force and their interaction (Sergio & Kalaska, 1997, 2003).

Our results share similarities to results from previous studies. We were able to decode the executed reach force from all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network, indicating the fronto-parietal reach network is selective for the executed reach force. But our results show some dissimilarities compared to results from Intveld and colleagues (2018). In comparison of we found neither of the areas of the fronto-parietal reach network was selective for the intended reach force, which would be indicating that the fronto-parietal reach network is selective for the executed reach force. This would indicate that the sensorimotor system is selective for force during the movement but not movement preparation, when haptic information was used to predict forces. We hypothesize that the force selectivity in the sensorimotor system during movement preparation, seems to depend on whether visual or haptic information could be used to predict the force of an upcoming movement.

A study that favors this hypothesis was conducted by Chouinard and colleagues, and suggests that M1 and PMd play different roles in anticipatory force scaling (Chouinard et al., 2005). They showed that repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the primary motor cortex disrupted the scaling of forces based on

haptic information inferred from a previous trial, while repetitive stimulation of the dorsal premotor cortex disrupted the scaling of forces based on visual information. Another study that favors this hypothesis, show that when visual information of the object size was used to infer object weight, transcranial magnetic stimulation over PMv, but not M1 or AIP, interfered with predictive force scaling of grip force (Dafotakis et al., 2008). Moreover, transcranial magnetic stimulation over the anterior intraparietal cortex showed that it had a transient role during predictive force scaling, when force scaling was based on visual information (van Polanen et al., 2022). Summarizing these studies, it seems that PMd and PMv, and to an extent AIP seem to play an important role during force scaling based on haptic information inferred from a previous trial.

We therefore postulate that the sensorimotor system uses visual information to predict forces and this force prediction is used to plan the force of an upcoming movement. In the absence of visual information to predict forces, the sensorimotor system relies on haptic information acquired during the movement to predict forces. In this case the force prediction is not used to plan the force of an upcoming movement.



2.6. Figures and tables

Figure 1 (*see previous page*). **Force-loaded reach task.** A: Overview of the task timeline and spatial layout of the memory-guided center-out reaching task. B: Overview of the setup with haptic manipulandum for loading reaches with different force-levels. C: Block-design of varying force conditions across trials. The force condition changed in a block-wise manner every thirty-two successful trials. Subjects were not explicitly instructed which force they would encounter during the upcoming movement but had to infer the force from the movement in the previous trial.





Figure 2 (see previous page). Movement trajectories and movement velocities reflect if monkey Y anticipated the force. A: Single trial movement trajectories from the first three trials (*left*) and the last three trials (*right*) of a force-block for the five possible relative changes in absolute force (color matrix). Movement start and movement end are depicted as points along the trajectory. Early trials tend to overshoot after force reductions. B: Mean movement velocities of the first trial (left) and fifth trial after the force changed (right). The shaded area depicts the 95% confidence interval (CI) of the mean. The dashed vertical line indicates the time 150ms after movement onset around which velocities tend to peak. C: Within-trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial (left) and fifth trial after the force changed (right). The asterisks indicate significant difference between compared force conditions within trials (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; post-hoc Wilcoxon signed rank test). D: Between-trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset for the first five trials of a block. The asterisks indicate significant difference within force conditions between trials (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).



Figure 3 (*see previous page*). **Direction and force selectivity in the fronto-parietal reach network of monkey Y.** A: Example neuron that was selective for the intended (late movement planning) and executed reach force. The shaded area depicts the 95% confidence interval (CI) of the mean. B: Tuning classes with either pure direction, pure force, combined direction and force selectivity, or an interaction of both, according to the tuning analysis. C: Proportion of tuning classes across task periods as fraction of all units. Colors as in (B); White are non-selective units.



Figure 4 (see previous page). Decoding of force from neural populations in areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network in monkey Y. A: Decoding performance for areas M1, PMd and PRR for decoded variables direction (*top*) and force (*bottom*). The dashed vertical line indicates the time of alignment. Full lines indicate decoding performance, while dashed lines indicate decoding performance of permuted data. The dashed vertical line indicates the time of alignment. The asterisks indicate significant difference between decoding performance and permuted decoding performance for each area (*p < a at 5 %; Cluster-based permutation test). B: Maximum decoding performance and time of significant difference between compared areas (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).



Supplementary Figure 1 (see previous page). Movement trajectories and movement velocities reflect if monkey K anticipated the force. A: Single trial movement trajectories from the first three trials (*left*) and the last three trials (*right*) of a force-block for the five possible relative changes in absolute force (color matrix). B: Mean movement velocities of the first trial (*left*) and fifth trial after the force changed (*right*). The shaded area depicts the 95% confidence interval (CI) of the mean. The dashed vertical line indicates the time 150ms after movement onset around which velocities tend to peak. C: Within-trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial (*left*) and fifth trial after the force changed (*right*). The asterisks indicate significant difference between compared force conditions within trials (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; post-hoc Wilcoxon signed rank test). D: Between-trial comparison of mean movement trials of a block. The asterisks indicate significant difference within force conditions between trials (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).



Supplementary Figure 2. Direction and force selectivity in the fronto-parietal reach network of monkey K. Proportion of tuning classes across task periods as fraction of all units. Colored units are selective for direction, force or both. White units are non-selective.

This page is intentionally left blank to display the forthcoming figures and their captions on facing pages.



Supplementary Figure 3 (*see previous page*). Neural populations in areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network show no systematic linear selectivity for force in monkey Y. A: Population average of spike density functions in M1. Population average of spike density functions during movement planning (*left*) are aligned, as indicated by the dashed vertical line, to spatial cue offset. Population average of spike density functions during movement (*right*) are aligned to go cue onset. B: Population average of spike density function in PRR.



Supplementary Figure 4 (see previous page). Neural populations in areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network show no systematic linear selectivity for force in monkey K. A: Population average of spike density functions in M1. Population average of spike density functions during movement planning (*left*) are aligned, as indicated by the dashed vertical line, to spatial cue offset. Population average of spike density functions during movement (*right*) are aligned to go cue onset. B: Population average of spike density function in PMd. C: Population average of spike density function in PRR.



Supplementary Figure 5 (see previous page). Decoding of force from neural populations in areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network in monkey K. A: Decoding performance for areas M1, PMd and PRR for decoded variables direction (*top*) and force (*bottom*). The dashed vertical line indicates the time of alignment. Full lines indicate decoding performance, while dashed lines indicate decoding performance of permuted data. The dashed vertical line indicates the time of alignment. The asterisks indicate significant difference between decoding performance and permuted decoding performance for each area (*p < a at 5 %; Cluster-based permutation test). B: Maximum decoding performance and time of significant difference both for movement planning and movement. The asterisks indicate significant difference areas (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).

Table 1. Overview of overall performance of both subjects.

Subject	Sessions	Avg. number of trials	Avg. number of successful trials	Avg. percentage of successful trials	Avg. percentage of successful reaches
Monkey Y	5	530	440	83 %	94 %
Monkey K	4	892	660	74 %	84 %

 Table 2. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in M1.

M1 (Monkey Y)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	1 (1%)	38 (47%)	40 (50%)	22 (27%)
Direction + force	-	3 (3%)	6 (7%)	20 (25%)
Direction * force	-	-	-	31 (38%)
Force	7 (8%)	4 (5%)	2 (2%)	-

Table 3. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PMd.

PMd (Monkey Y)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	-	56 (81%)	51 (73%)	27 (39%)
Direction + force	-	4 (5%)	7 (10%)	15 (21%)
Direction * force	-	-	1 (1%)	23 (33%)
Force	6 (8%)	1 (1%)	-	-

PRR (Monkey Y)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	-	16 (66%)	10 (41%)	14 (58%)
Direction + force	-	1 (4%)	2 (8%)	-
Direction * force	-	-	-	5 (20%)
Force	2 (8%)	-	-	-

Table 4. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PRR.

 Table 5. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in M1.

M1 (Monkey K)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	-	12 (48%)	13 (52%)	-
Direction + force	-	1 (4%)	3 (12%)	9 (36%)
Direction * force	-	-	-	8 (32%)
Force	5 (20%)	2(8%)	-	1 (4%)

Table 6. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PMd.

PMd (Monkey K)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	1 (1%)	68 (85%)	56 (70%)	49 (61%)
Direction + force	-	8 (10%)	11 (13%)	15 (18%)
Direction * force	-	1 (1%)	5 (6%)	14 (17%)
Force	7 (8%)	-	-	-

PRR (Monkey K)	Baseline	Movement planning (early)	Movement planning (late)	Movement
Direction	-	29 (67%)	36 (83%)	32 (74%)
Direction + force	-	3 (6%)	-	5 (11%)
Direction * force	-	2 (4%)	-	3 (6%)
Force	2 (4%)	3 (6%)	1 (2%)	1 (2%)

 Table 7. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PRR.

Chapter 3:

Decoding intended and executed reach effort during effort-guided reach selection

Julia Nowak^{1, 2, 3}, Pierre Morel^{1, 4}, Alexander Gail^{1, 2, 5, 6}

- 2 Faculty of Biology and Psychology, Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- **3** Göttingen Graduate Center for Neurosciences, Biophysics and Molecular Biosciences (GGNB), Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- 4 *Université* Littoral Côte d'Opale, *Université* Lille, *Université* Artois, ULR 7369 URePSSS Unité de Recherche Pluridisciplinaire Sport Santé Société, F-59140 Dunkerque, France
- 5 Georg Elias Müller Institute for Psychology, Georg August University Göttingen, Germany
- 6 Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience, Göttingen, Germany

JN, PM and AG designed the study; JN collected the data; JN and PM analyzed the data; JN visualized the results and wrote the original draft; JN and PM revised the manuscript.

¹ Sensorimotor Group, Cognitive Neuroscience Laboratory, German Primate Center – Leibniz Institute for Primate Research, Göttingen, Germany

3.1. Abstract

Decisions are often decisions among actions. Current theories, postulate that decision processes are not separated from sensorimotor processes. Congruently, benefitrelated decision variables, e.g. reward associated to actions, are represented in the sensorimotor system. But it remains unclear if cost-related decision variables are also represented in the sensorimotor system. In reach movements, a cost-related decision variable is physical effort (reach effort). One of the parameters that increases the physical effort of a reach movement, is force. This study investigates if the frontoparietal reach network represents reach effort when deciding between two reach goals, by using forces to increase reach effort. We trained a macaque monkey (Macaca mulatta) to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. The monkey was trained to associate reaches toward one of the reach goals to be more effortful, compared to the other, less effortful reach goal. We recorded the neural population activity from three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: the arm area of the primary motor cortex (M1), the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the parietal reach region (PRR). Preliminary results show that a minority of neurons in the frontoparietal reach network represent reach effort before and after deciding between reach goals (intended reach effort), while a majority of neurons represented reach effort when the decision was executed (executed reach effort). Furthermore, we were able to decode reach effort from the neural population activity in the fronto-parietal reach network. We were able to decode, to a degree, reach effort from areas PMd and M1 before a decision and from all three areas after the decision and when the decision was executed. After the decision, the maximum decoding performance was highest in PMd, followed by M1 and PRR, while when the decision was executed it was highest in M1, followed by PMd and PRR. Our results suggest that the frontoparietal reach network represents reach effort, indicating that the sensorimotor system represents cost-related decision variables.

3.2. Introduction

Imagine you want to pour yourself a glass of milk. You open the cupboard and can choose to grab a glass of the lower or upper shelf, and choose a glass from the lower shelf of the cupboard. This demonstrates that many decisions we make are decisions among actions. Past hypotheses in cognitive psychology claimed that decision processes are separated from sensorimotor processes (Sternberg, 1969). However a present hypothesis, the affordance competition hypothesis, claims that decision and sensorimotor processes are not separated. According to the affordance competition hypothesis, when confronted with a choice among actions, the fronto-parietal network creates competing neural representations of these actions (Cisek, 2007). Studies conducted by Cisek and Kalaska support the affordance competition hypothesis by showing that, when presented with two reach goals, the neural population activity in PMd produced parallel representations of these two reach goals. Once one of the reach goals was chosen, the representation of the chosen reach goal predominated and the PMd population activity reliably predicted the choice (Cisek & Kalaska, 2002, 2005; reviewed in Cisek & Kalaska, 2010). Similar observations in PMd were also made in other studies (Coallier et al., 2015; Klaes et al., 2011). Furthermore, parallel representations of reach goals, during action selection, could be shown for other areas of the fronto-parietal reach network, such as PRR (Klaes et al., 2011, 2012; Scherberger & Andersen, 2007). It could therefore be argued that, if decision processes and sensorimotor processes are actually separated and do not happen simultaneously, the sensorimotor system should only represented the chosen action and not all actions that can be chosen. In addition, the sensorimotor system should not represent decision variables, for example actionrelated benefits or costs, which bias competing action representations.

Additional support of the affordance competition hypothesis comes from studies that show that the fronto-parietal reach network (Christopoulos et al., 2015; de Lafuente et al., 2015; Kubanek & Snyder, 2015; Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011; Ramkumar et al., 2016; Suriya-Arunroj & Gail, 2019) and other fronto-parietal networks (e.g., Christopoulos et al., 2018; for review, see also Cisek & Kalaska, 2010; Glimcher, 2003; Gold & Shadlen, 2007) represent decision variables. Many studies showed that the fronto-parietal reach network represents benefit-related decision variables (de Lafuente et al., 2015; Kubanek & Snyder, 2015; Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011; Ramkumar et al., 2016). Pastor-Bernier and Cisek (2011) showed that reward, associated to a reach goals, modulates fronto-parietal activity while choosing one of two reach goals. This modulation was present during action selection, but absent without action selection when only one reach goal was available. While those studies focused on the representation and biasing-effects of benefit-related decision variables in areas of the fronto-parietal reach network it remains unknown, if cost-related decision variables are represented and contribute to the biased competition in areas of the fronto-parietal reach network.

The physical effort associated with an action is a crucial cost-related decision variable that influences action selection. One parameter that increases the physical effort of a reach movement (reach effort), is force (Morel et al., 2017). Thus, force can be used to increase reach effort. This study investigates if the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort when deciding between two reach goals, by using forces to increase effort. To do so, we trained a macaque monkey to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. The monkey was trained to associate reaches toward one of the reach goals to be physically more effortful, compared to the other physically less effortful reach goal. By randomly mixing choice and instructed trials, we discourage premature choices and instead encouraged sustained and ambiguous preparation of both reach movements. Choice trials allowed us to assess the actual behavioral bias induced by reach effort. We recorded the neural population activity
from three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: the arm area of the primary motor cortex (M1), the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the parietal reach region (PRR).

Our preliminary results show that a minority of neurons in the fronto-parietal reach network represent reach effort before and after deciding between reach goals (intended reach effort), while a majority of neurons represented reach effort when the decision was executed (executed reach effort). Moreover, we were able to decode reach effort from the neural population activity in the fronto-parietal reach network. We were able to decode, to a degree, reach effort from areas PMd and M1 before a decision and from all three areas after the decision and when the decision was executed. Our results suggest that the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort, indicating that the sensorimotor system represents cost-related decision variables.

3.3. Materials and methods

3.3.1. Animal preparation

A macaque monkey (*Macaca mulatta*; monkey Y, age: 14 years) was trained to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. Positive reinforcement was used to train the animal to sit in a primate chair and perform the reach selection task, while being head fixated. The animal was experienced in performing reaches in a conventional chair seated setting (Chapter 2)¹.

The monkey was chronically implanted with a custom-fit transcutaneous titanium head holder, which allowed the head fixation of the animal. Additionally, the animal was chronically implanted with 192 intracortical electrodes using six floating microwire arrays (32-electrodes, 400 μ electrode-to-electrode separation, electrode

¹ This reference refers to Chapter 2 of this thesis.

impedance 0.4-0.6 M Ω , array size: 4 mm x 1.8 mm; Microprobes for Life Science, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA) in the left hemisphere with two arrays inserted in each of the three cortical areas (X). The array connectors (Omnetics Connector Corporation, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) were each incorporated in a titanium housing pedestal. The six pedestals were mounted on a custom-designed and customfit 3D-printed holder (Shapeways, New York City, New York, USA) which allowed aligning the connectors with defined spacing and covering them with an additional protective cap. The holder was embedded in dental cement anchored to the skull with cortical screws. Implants were designed with the software Rhinoceros 6 (Robert McNeel and Associates, Seattle, Washington, USA). The procedure to design implants (Ahmed et al., 2022) and the implantation procedure (Berger et al., 2020) have been previously described. Surgical procedures were performed in a sterile surgery suite under general anesthesia and analgesia. Post-surgical analgesia was administered, according to the need of the animal, usually for several days after the surgery. All imaging procedures performed to obtain the CT and MRI scans, used to plan implantation procedures, were conducted under general anesthesia and analgesia.

All experimental procedures have been approved by the responsible regional government office [Niedersäsisches Landesamt für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit (LAVES)] under the permit number 33.19-42502-04-18/2823. This study and the procedures involving non-human primates were conducted according to the relevant national and international laws and guidelines, including the German Animal Protection Law, the European Union Directive 2010/63/EU on the Protection of Animals used for Scientific Purposes and the Society for Neuroscience Policies on the Use of Animals and Humans in Neuroscience Research.

3.3.2. Experimental setup

We conducted the study in a 2D-haptic reach setup (Figure 1B; see also Morel et al., 2016). The animal performed the reaches by moving the handle of a haptic manipulandum (Delta.3, Force Dimension, Nyon, Switzerland). Through forces applied by the manipulandum the movements of the manipulandum were restricted in the fronto-parietal (x-y) plane (Morel et al., 2016). Handle displacement controlled real-time displacement of a cursor that was displayed on a monitor (BenQ XL2720T, screen size 590 x 338 mm, 60 Hz refresh rate, distance 65cm) above the haptic manipulandum (forward prediction compensated latencies of the haptic manipulandum and monitor; Morel et al., 2016). The position of the manipulandum handle, was sampled with a rate of 2 kHz. The eye position was sampled with a sampling rate of 1 kHz with a video-based eye tracker (EyeLink 1000 Plus, SR Research, Ottawa, Canada). The haptic manipulandum and the eye-tracker were connected to a computer running custom software (C++, OpenGL) that controlled the generation and presentation of visual stimuli, task event recording, eye position and hand position recording, and force generation. The manipulandum generated forces with a constant magnitude, similar to a kinetic friction force, which opposed the movement direction (Morel et al., 2017). The magnitude of the kinetic friction force was modified to generate different resistive force levels (low / not effortful: 0 N, high / effortful: 6 N) in addition to forces used to constrain movements to the fronto-parallel plane. The manipulandum and computer communicated bidirectionally, with the manipulandum sending the position of the handle and the computer requesting forces to be applied at the handle for each iteration of this 0.5ms haptic cycle. The movement position, movement velocity (by differentiating the movement position) and applied force were recorded and sampled at 2 kHz.

3.3.3. Effort-guided reach selection task

This study investigates if the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort when monkeys were deciding between reach goals in an effort-guided reach selection task (Figure 1A). The task design allowed, by alternating to instruct effortful or not effortful reaches, to investigate within the same trial if reach effort would be represented before or after the decision (imposed by the instruction) or when the decision was executed. Furthermore, by allowing the monkey intermittently to choose a reach goal according to his preference, we were able examine if reach effort induces a behavioral bias.

A trial was initiated, when the monkey moved the manipulandum handle, displayed as a yellow circular cursor ($\emptyset = 5.1$ mm), with the dominant hand into the circular grey hand fixation area ($\emptyset = 37.4$ mm; 3.2° visual angle). The fixation area had a fixation tolerance diameter matching its size of 3.2° visual angle, i.e., during the time of fixation the cursor had to stay within this area. Additional to the hand fixation, eye fixation had to be obtained by directing the gaze to the square red eye fixation area (side length 8.5 mm; 0.7° visual angle; fixation tolerance 5.9° visual angle). After hand and eye fixation were both obtained and held for 600ms, two circular spatial cues ($\emptyset = 59.5$ mm; 5.2° visual angle; target tolerance 5.2° visual angle), were displayed. This period was used to investigate if reach effort would be represented before a decision was made. The spatial cues had contrasting colors (yellow, blue) and where shown at opposite directions. The spatial cues were pseudo-randomly displayed in one of two configurations (circular direction relative from central fixation 45° and 225°, or 135° and 315°; eccentricity of both cues from monitor center = 60 mm). Spatial cues remained visible throughout the trial. After 600 ms to 900 ms (uniform distribution), an additional square contextual color cue (yellow, blue, white) was displayed surrounding the fixation point and remained visible throughout the trial. This period was used to investigate if reach effort would be represented after a decision (imposed by instruction or choice) was made. The color of the contextual cue (yellow, blue) instructed the animal to perform reaches to the reach target with the matching color (percentage of instructed trials: 66 %). If the color of contextual cue was white, the animal was allowed to choose between the reach targets (percentage of choice trials: 33 %). The animal had to maintain hand and eye fixation until the hand fixation point disappeared (go cue) after 900 ms to 1200 ms (uniform distribution). After the go cue, the reach had to be initiated. To encourage the animal to plan the upcoming reach movement prior to movement execution, the animal had to initiate the movement between 150 and 450 ms after the go cue. The 150 ms delay was after the go cue was introduced to discourage the monkeys from anticipating the go cue and initiating the reach movement prematurely. Movement initiation was defined as the cursor speed exceeding a threshold of 0.02 m/s or the cursor leaving the position of the hand fixation area. Once the movement was initiated, the movement had to be executed within 700ms by moving the cursor into the spatial target. To successfully execute the movement, the cursor had to be moved into the instructed or chosen spatial target and the cursor speed had to fall below a threshold of 0.2 m/s. This ensured that the animal stopped within the spatial target. After the reach target was correctly obtained the reach target was displayed and the animal had to remain for 300ms within the reach target tolerance area. Successful trials were indicated by additional acoustic feedback (high pitched tone) and the monkey received water as a reward, according to his preferences. Unsuccessful trials were indicated by a low pitch tone and the monkeys did not receive a reward. Trials were aborted and declared unsuccessful when the monkey failed to obtain the hand or eye fixation or ended the fixation prematurely, failed to initiate the movement in time or failed to complete the movement to the instructed (instructed trials) or chosen (choice trials) reach target in time.

Movements had to be conducted against resistive forces levels, used to modulate reach effort, which opposed the movement direction with a constant magnitude of 0 N or 6 N. The resistive forces were applied during the movement. Resistive force levels, associated with the left and right side of the fronto-parallel plane, were constant for blocks of 36 successful trials before switching between sides. The combinations of reach directions, contextual color cues and reach effort resulted in 4 (direction: 45°, 225°, 135°, 315°) x 3 (contextual cue colors: yellow, blue, white) x 2 (effort: left, right) = 24 task conditions that had to be completed at least 15 times per sessions. Reach directions and contextual color cues conditions were randomized trial-by-trial. This means, even though the force-load was constant for 36 consecutive trials in terms of side of the workspace, the load varied from trial to trial depending on the instructed target or the freely chosen target. Task conditions of unsuccessful trials were not repeated instantly but added back to the pool of task conditions pseudo-randomly drawn from. Reach effort conditions were drawn pseudo-randomly from block to block (Figure 1C). Within a block, the reach effort of a previous trial was predictive of the reach effort of the present trial. Trials between blocks were an exception, here the effort of a previous trial was not predictive for the effort condition of the present trial.

3.3.4. Behavioral data analysis

The behavioral and neural data analyses were carried out using MATLAB 2018a (Mathworks Inc., Natick, Massachusetts, USA) with the data visualization toolbox *gramm* (Morel, 2018).

We quantified the general performance as percentage of successful reaches. In addition, we tested if reach effort biased the choices of the animal by computing the percentage of successful choice trial where the less effortful reach goal was chosen. We analyzed if the monkey used the reach effort of the previous trial to predict the effort of a present trial. To do so, we compared movement velocities of trials between blocks, were the effort of a previous trial did not predict the effort of the present trial, with movement velocities of trials within blocks, were the effort of a previous trial predicted the effort of the present trial (Figure 2). For each trial, we extracted the movement velocity at the time point 150 ms after movement onset, i.e., in the early phase of movement before feedback-induced velocity corrections would become apparent. A Poisson-family generalized linear model (fitglm(); MATLAB 2018a) was used to test if the effort associated with the reach movement modulated the movement velocity. We repeated this analysis for different number of trials after a block switched, e.g., comparing the first and the fifth trial after a switch (Model 1). By doing so we were able to quantify if a switch of the block led to under- or overshooting due to a mismatch of the predicted effort and how quickly the monkey adjusted its effort prediction across trials. The model included movement velocity as response variable and the effort (binomial variable) as predictor.

(Model 1)
$$Velocity \sim 1 + Effort$$

If the generalized linear model indicated that effort significantly predicted velocity, we performed additional post-hoc tests (Wilcoxon rank sum test, a = 0.05)

3.3.5. Neural recordings and data analysis

While the animal performed the effort-guided reach selection task, we conducted extracellular neural recording from the following three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: the arm area of M1, PMd and PRR. Neural recordings were obtained from all six arrays simultaneously. Neural recording procedure was previously described (Chapter 2).

We sorted the extracellular spikes using Offline Sorter V4 (Plexon Inc, Dallas, Texas, USA). Channels that contained spike waveform clusters that could not be isolated from the noise cluster were termed as "unsorted". Channels containing clusters that could be isolated from the noise cluster were termed as "sorted". Differentiable spike waveform clusters, in "sorted" channels, were defined as single-units, while non-differentiable clusters were defined as multi-units. Single-units and multi-units were treated identically in our analysis and referred to as "units". The spike density function was derived by smoothing the spike trains of each unit in each trial with a Gaussian kernel ($\sigma = 50$ ms). Spike counts and spike density functions (sampled at 200 Hz) were temporally aligned to the onset or offset, respectively, of visual stimuli and analyzed in corresponding time windows.

In the first step, we analyzed if the individual units represent direction and effort (Figure 3). We used a Poisson-family generalized linear model with a stepwise regression (stepwiseglm(); MATLAB2018a) as previously described (Chapter 2). Starting from a constant model, with spike counts as response variable, the predictors (direction, effort) were added and removed by forward or backward stepwise regression to determine the final model. Predictors were added when the p-value of the F-statistic was < 0.01 and removed when the p-value of the F-statistic was > 0.05. Final models could look as following using Wilkinson-Rogers formula notation:

(Model 2.1) Spike count ~ 1

(Model 2.2)	Spike count $\sim 1 + Direction$
(Model 2.3)	Spike count $\sim 1 + Effort$
(Model 2.4)	Spike count $\sim 1 + \text{Direction} * \text{Effort}$

The spike counts were aligned and averaged in the following time windows: baseline (-300 ms to 0 ms, aligned to spatial cue onset), early cue period (0 ms to 300 ms, aligned to spatial cue onset), late cue period (-300 ms to 0 ms, aligned to context cue onset), early context cue period (0 ms to 300 ms, aligned to context cue onset), late context cue period (-300 ms to 300 ms, aligned to context cue onset), late context cue period (-300 ms to 0 ms, aligned to context cue onset), late context cue period (-300 ms to 0 ms, aligned to go cue onset) and movement (0 ms to 500 ms, aligned to go cue onset).

In the second step, we analyzed if direction and effort could be decoded from the neural population activity of areas of the fronto-parietal reach network (Figure 4). To do so we used a multi-class support vector machine decoder (fitcecoc(); MATLAB2018a). The detailed procedure on how the time-continuous decoding performance and the time-continuous decoding performance of the permuted data was computed was previously described (Chapter 2). We computed the timecontinuous decoding performance and the decoding performance of the permuted data, by using spike counts as decoder input, for the decoded variables: direction, effort or both. We did so for the following time windows: spatial cue (-600 ms to 600 ms, aligned to spatial cue onset), context cue (-600 ms to 600 ms, aligned to context cue onset), movement (-600 ms to 600 ms, aligned to go cue onset). Time windows were binned in 150 ms time bins (with 50 ms overlap). To test for each time bin for significant differences between the decoding performance and the permuted decoding performance, we used the cluster-based permutation test (Maris & Oostenveld, 2007; implementation based on Dann et al., 2016). To test for significant difference between areas, we calculated the time when differences between the decoding performance and the permuted decoding performance became significant and the maximum decoding performance and used the Wilcoxon rank sum test (a =0.05).

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Physical effort biases reach selection

To examine if the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort, we trained a macaque monkey to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. Reaches toward one of the reach goals were physically more effortful compared to the other reach goal. Reach goals were associated with different physical efforts by force-loading one of two alternative reaches, i.e., by applying a resistive force against the required movement. Effort here refers to expected cost of executing a reach in the context choice between different reach options. To examine whether reach effort would bias the monkeys reach selection, we calculated the percentage of choice trials were the less effortful reach goal was chosen.

The monkey performed the effort-guided reach selection task with an average percentage of 95% correct reaches (Supplementary Figure 1; Table 1). We investigated if the fronto-parietal reach network represents the intended and executed reach effort, thereby indicating that action costs contribute to biased competition in these areas. To infer from the behavioral data if reach effort biased competition in the fronto-parietal reach network, we quantified the biasing effect reach effort had on monkeys' choices during action selection. In choice trials, the monkey was allowed to choose the reach goal according to its own preference. The monkey chose the physically less effortful reach goal with an average percentage of 71%, showing that reach effort biased reach selection (Supplementary Figure 2). We insured that the effort bias we observed was not induced by associations that were not related to reach effort (for example: a direction bias, a color bias), by varying the effort associations between reach goals.

For the effort to bias reach selection, the monkey needs to anticipate the reach effort accurately. To quantify whether the monkey predicted the effort of a present trial, by

using the effort information of the previous trial, we examined how quickly the animal adjust to a switch of the effort association. Note that even though the effort association switched, instructions whether effortful or not effortful reaches should be performed was instructed from trial to trial. We analyzed the effect of switching effort associations on the movement velocity within and across blocks trials. In the first trial, after the effort association switched, one of two effects could be observed (Figure 2A). For instance, if reaches to the right were previously effortful and were now not effortful, the movement velocity was increased, causing the movement trajectories to overshoot. If reaches to the right were previously not effortful and were now effortful, for instance, the movement trajectories tend to undershoot, caused by a decrease of the movement velocity. To test if movement velocities was significantly affected by effort we used a Poisson-family generalized linear model (tstatistic = -3.438, p < 0.001). This effect was less and not significant anymore at the time of the fifth trial (t-statistic = -1.881, p = 0.059) (Figure 2B and 2C), suggesting that the movement velocity adjusted to the switching effort association within those trials. Additional analysis of trials showed that the movement velocity adjusted within two trials (Figure 2D). After those two trials the movement velocity stabilized yet remained separate across trial.

3.4.2. Neurons in the fronto-parietal reach network encode reach effort

Five sessions were collected, were we recorded single- and multi-unit activity from three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network in parallel. We recorded across these five sessions a total of 198 single- and multi-units from areas: M1 (number of units: 95), PMd (number of units: 57) and PRR (number of units: 46). We did not differentiate between single- and multi-units in our analysis.

First, we analyzed if the units represented reach direction or reach effort in instructed trials during the following trial periods: baseline, cue period, context cue period, movement. Using a step-wise generalized linear model, we found units in all three

areas of the fronto-parietal reach network that represented direction. The number of direction-representing units differed between time periods of a trial. Generally, only a minor number of units represented direction in all three areas during the spatial cue period (when the reach goals were first presented) compared to the context cue period (when the reach goal was instructed). Once the instruction was given, and the monkey was informed toward which reach goals he was supposed to reach (by instruction) the number of units that represented direction increased (Figure 3B). Comparing the number of direction-representing units across areas, we found that the number of direction- representing units in PMd and PRR was highest during the context cue period, while in M1 the number was highest during the movement period.

Aside from direction-representing units, we found units that were direction- and effort- representing (Figure 3A) or only effort-representing in the three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network. Similarly, to units representing direction, the number effort-representing units differed between trial periods (Figure 3B). In general, the overall number of all effort-representing units in M1, PMd and PRR was highest during the movement period. In more detail, we found in M1 (Figure 3B, Table 2) one unit that was direction- and effort-representing and nine effort-representing units during the early cue period and three effort-representing units during the early context cue period. During the movement period we found thirty direction- and effort-representing units. In PMd (Figure 3B, Table 3) we found six units that were effort- representing during the early cue period and one direction- and effortrepresenting units during the early context cue period. During the movement period we found twelve direction- and effort- representing units. In PRR (Figure 3B, Table 4) we found five effort-representing units during the early cue period and two effortrepresenting units during the early context cue period. During the movement period we found eleven direction- and effort-representing units.

3.4.3. Reach effort can be decoded from neural population activity in the fronto-parietal reach network

Second, we used a support vector machine decoder to decode the reach direction and reach effort from areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network. We could significantly decode the direction and effort from all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network yet observed differences in the decoding performance across trial periods and brain areas (Figure 4).

During the spatial cue period, we could only significantly decode the direction (2way classifier) from the neural population activity in areas PRR and PMd, with a higher decoding performance in PRR. Furthermore, direction was significantly earlier decoded in PRR. During the context cue period, the direction (4-way classifier) could be significantly decoded from the neural population activity in all three areas, with higher decoding performance in PMd compared to M1 and PRR. As in the previous period the direction was significantly faster decoded in PRR followed by PMd and M1. During the movement period, we could significantly decode the direction (4-way classifier) from all three areas. Decoding performance was highest in M1 and PMd, compared to PRR.

Our findings indicate that the fronto-parietal reach network represents the spatial location of reach goals. Before one of two potential reach goals is instructed, this is the case only to a minor degree. Once instructed, the reach goal representations in the fronto-parietal reach network increased majorly, reaching its peak after the movement is initiated. From all areas of the fronto-parietal reach network PRR represented the direction the earliest, followed by PMd and M1.

In addition to decoding the intended and executed reach direction, we could decode the intended and executed reach effort from the neural population activity in all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network. During the spatial cue period, we could only significantly decode the reach effort (2-way classifier; effort conditions: left/right) from the neural population activity in PMd and M1, with a higher decoding performance in PMd compared to M1. During the context cue period, we could significantly decode the reach effort (2-way classifier: effort conditions: effortful/not effortful) from all three areas. The decoding performance was highest in PMd, followed by M1 and PRR. Additionally, the effort was faster significantly decoded in PMd, followed by M1 and PRR. During the movement period, we could significantly decode the effort (2-way classifier: effort conditions: effortful/not effortful) from the neural population activity in all three areas. The decoding performance was highest in M1 and PMd, compared to PRR. Once the movement was initiated, the time of significant effort decoding performance during the movement period was similarly fast in M1 and PMd, and slower in PRR. From our findings, we can infer that the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort, to a limited extent, while both reach goals are competing. Once the competition ends and a reach goal is chosen, the reach effort representation strengthens in PMd and M1. The strongest reach effort representation is observed during the movement period in M1 followed by PMd and PRR.

3.5. Discussion

This study investigated if the primate fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort before and after deciding between reach goals (intended reach effort) and when the decision was executed (executed reach effort). Such a representation would indicate that action costs contribute to biased competition in these brain areas.

Summarizing the results from our study, we found neurons that represent reach effort in following areas of the fronto-parietal reach network: PMd, M1 and PRR. A minority of neurons significantly represented the intended reach effort before and after a decision has been made, while a majority of neurons represented the executed reach effort when the movement associated with a decision was executed. Moreover, we were able to significantly decode the intended reach effort from the neural population activity in PMd and M1 before and in all three areas after the after a decision has been made. This was particularly prominent when the chosen reach movement was executed. Interestingly, we found that after the decision has been made but before the movement was executed the decoding performance was highest in PMd, followed by M1 and PRR. Once the decision was executed by initiating a reach toward the chosen reach goal, the decoding performance was highest in M1, followed by PMd and PRR.

3.5.1. Representations of intended and executed reach effort in the fronto-parietal reach network

Previous studies showed that the fronto-parietal reach network represents decisionrelated variables that are associated to action benefits (de Lafuente et al., 2015; Kubanek & Snyder, 2015; Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011; Ramkumar et al., 2016). When we assume that the fronto-parietal reach network represents all decisionrelated variables that could influence action selection, then decision-related variables that are associated to action costs, such as physically effort, should be represented. Knowing that force can increase physical effort (Morel et al., 2017), we used forces to study reach effort representations. Our results show that the intended reach effort could be decoded, to a smaller degree, before and, to a larger degree, after deciding between two reach goals. Thereby indicating that action costs contribute to biased competition in the fronto-parietal reach network.

We assume that the small degree to which we were able to decode the intended reach effort before the decisions was due to the fact that preparation of both reaches was not enforced enough in the time when the monkey was deciding between both reach goals. Not enforcing preparation of both reaches, could have resulted in postponing the preparation until the monkey received the contextual color information. It this case the monkey would wait for the contextual color information to start to prepare for the reach, without preparing both reaches. But since we were able to decode the reach direction from neural populations in PRR and PMd, before the monkey decided between the reach goals, this might still suggest that the intended effort, we were able to decode at the same time, could have been contributed to biased competition in both areas. Interestingly, we were able to decode to a larger degree the intended reach effort after the decisions between the two reach goals had been made.

A recent study conducted in our research group showed that areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach force, during the movement (executed reach force) but not during movement preparation (intended reach force; see Chapter 2). In this study, similar to the current study, the force of a present trial, had to be inferred from the force information obtained in the previous force. Since the intended reach force is not represented in the fronto-parietal reach network according to Nowak and colleagues (see Chapter 2), we should be able to exclude that the representation of intended reach effort we observed were related to intended reach force rather than intended reach effort. However, we did use contextual color cues to instruct which reach goal should be selected.

Intveld and colleagues (2018) reported that areas M1 (hand area), PMv and AIP in the fronto-parietal grasp network represent the executed grasp force, while PMv, and to an extent AIP, represent the intended grasp force. In this study contextual color cues were used, which monkeys associated with grasp forces to instruct grasp force levels. This makes it more difficult to exclude that the representation of intended reach effort we observed in PMd and PRR were related to intended reach force. But it should be noted that the contextual color cues that were used in our study were not used to instruct reach effort rather the reach direction, which was associated with a certain effort condition. Moreover, our results cannot be explained by this argument either, since we were able to decode the presumably intend effort from areas, PMd, M1 and PRR and not just PMd and PRR, who are the counterparts of PMv and AIP during reaching movements. Therefore, we do argue that the fronto-parietal reach network represents reach effort, though we cannot exclude completely that intended reach effort and intended reach force might be co-represented.

Furthermore, our results show that the executed reach effort could be decoded from areas M1, PMd and PRR in the fronto-parietal reach network, indicating that it represents executed reach effort. We do not exclude that the executed reach force was co-represented.

3.5.2. Representations of reach direction in the fronto-parietal reach network

While we could significantly decode the direction from neural populations in all three areas after the decision between the two reach goals has been made and was executed, the decoding performance before the decision was made was low. This was surprising, since we expected to find higher decoding performance in PRR and PMd. We assume that this could have been because the animal did not start the movement preparation once the two reach goals have been shown but rather waited for the contextual cue to prepare the movement.



3.6. Figures and tables

Figure 1 (*see previous page*). **Effort-guided reach selection task**. A: Overview of the task timeline of the effort-guided reach selection task. B: Overview of the setup. C: Schematic of the switching effort associations across trials. Effort associations switched in a block-wise manner every thirty-six successful trials. The effort associations switched between the left and right side of the workspace. Subjects were not explicitly instructed which effort they would encounter during the upcoming movement but had to infer the effort from the movement in the previous trial.



Figure 2 (see previous page). Movement trajectories and movement velocities reflect that the monkey anticipated the physical effort. A: Single trial trajectories from the first three trial (*left*) and the last three trials (*right*) after the effort associations switched. The movement start and end are pictured as points along the single trial trajectories. In the first three trials after the effort association switched movement trajectories were overshooting. In the last three trials overshoots were rarely observed B: Mean movement velocity of the first trial (*left*) and fifth trial after the effort associations changed (*right*). The 95% confidence interval (CI) of the mean is pictured as shaded area. The dashed vertical line depicts the time 150ms after movement onset. C: Within-trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial (*left*) and fifth trial after the effort association changed (*right*). D: Between-trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset at the first trial comparison of mean movement velocities extracted 150ms after movement onset between trials. The asterisks indicate significant difference between compared force conditions (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p < a at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).



Periods

Tuning class None - Direction - Direction + Effort - Direction * Effort - Effort Figure 3 (*see previous page*). Direction and effort representations in areas: M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network. A: Example units that represents effort during different task periods. The top panel shows an example unit that significantly represents effort during the early and late spatial cue period, during the late context cue period and during the movement period. The bottom panel shows an example unit that significantly represents effort during the movement period. The bottom panel shows an example unit that significantly represents effort during the movement period. Grey shaded areas indicate the time when the example units were significantly representing effort. For each example unit raster plots and mean spike densities of the example units' maximum response direction (PD_{max}) are pictured. Pictured are the following task periods: cue period, context cue period, movement period. Raster plots and mean spike densities are aligned to spatial cue onset (left), context cue onset (middle), go cue onset (right). The dashed vertical line depicts the time point of alignment. The 95% confidence interval (CI) of the mean is pictured as shaded area. B: Proportion of tuning classes that represent effort or direction or both across task periods.





Figure 4 (see previous page). Decoding of effort in areas M1, PMd and PRR of the fronto-parietal reach network. A: Decoding performance for areas M1, PMd and PRR for decoded variables: direction (top) and force (bottom). Decoding performance is depicted for three different task period: spatial cue period, context cue period, movement period. The dashed vertical line indicates the time of alignment: aligned to spatial cue onset (left), aligned to context cue onset (middle), aligned to go cue onset (right). Full lines indicate decoding performance, while dashed lines indicate decoding performance of the permuted data (indicates decoding performance at chance level). The asterisks highlight significant difference between decoding performance and decoding performance of the permuted data for each area (*p < a at 5 %; Cluster-based permutation test). B: Maximum decoding performance of cue period (left), maximum decoding performance and time until the decoding performance significantly deviated from the permuted decoding performance for context cue period (middle) and movement period (right). The asterisks highlight significant difference between compared areas (*p < a at 5 %, **p < a at 1 %; ***p< *a* at 0.1 %; Wilcoxon signed rank test).



Supplementary Figure 1. Error rates during instructed trials and choice trials. A: Percentage of errors made during the movement in instructed trials (top) and choice trials (bottom). B: Movement trajectories of trials were errors were made during the movement (instructed trials). Shown are errors made in accordance with the instructed direction. In trials were the monkey was instructed perform effortful reaches (blue movement trajectories), we observed regularly that the monkey ignored the instruction and performed not effortful reaches instead, even those these were not rewarded.



Supplementary Figure 2. Choice probabilities during choice trials. A: Percentage of choice trials were the less effortful reach goal was chosen by the monkey. B: Potential biases of the monkey performing the effort-guided reach selection task across sessions. Percentage of choice trials were the less effortful reach goals (effort bias; top), the left reach goals (spatial bias; middle) and blue reach goals (color; bottom) were chosen.

Table 1. Overview of overall performance of the sub	oject.
---	--------

Subject	Sessions	Avg. number of trials	Avg. number of successful trials	Avg. percentage of successful trials	Avg. percentage of successful reaches
Monkey Y	5	491.8	434.2	87 %	95 %

Table 2. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in M1.

M1	Baseline	Early	Late	Early	Late	Movement
		cue	cue	context	context	
				cue	cue	
Direction	1 (1%)	-	-	4 (4%)	33	47 (49%)
					(34%)	
Direction	-	1 (1%)	-	-	1 (1%)	15 (15%)
+ force						
Direction *	-	-	-	-	-	15 (15%)
force						
Force	7 (7%)	9 (9%)	12 (12%)	3 (3%)	4 (4%)	-

PMd	Baseline	Early	Late	Early	Late	Movement
		cue	cue	context	context	
				cue	cue	
Direction	-	-	-	15 (26%)	40 (70%)	34 (59%)
Direction + force	-	-	1 (1%)	-	1 (1%)	7 (12%)
Direction * force	-	-	-	-	1 (1%)	5 (8%)
Force	3 (5%)	6 (10%)	11 (19%)	1 (1%)	1 (1%)	-

Table 3. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PMd.

Table 4. Overview of number and percentage of tuned units in PRR.

PRR	Baseline	Early	Late	Early	Late	Movement
		cue	cue	context	context	
				cue	cue	
Direction	-	1 (2%)	3 (6%)	2 (4%)	18 (39%)	13 (28%)
Direction + force	-	-	-	-	1 (2%)	6 (13%)
Direction *	-	-	-	-	1 (2%)	5 (10%)
force						
Force	2 (4%)	5 (10%)	5 (10%)	2 (4%)	-	-

Chapter 4: General Discussion

This thesis investigated if the sensorimotor system integrates force information before a motor command is executed. First, we studied force information integration, when the sensorimotor system prepared and executed one motor command. Secondly, we studied force information integration when the sensorimotor system prepared and selected between two motor goals, before executing the motor command.

The thesis is divided into two chapters containing two studies. The first study (Chapter 2) investigated if the primate fronto-praietal reach network encodes the reach force during the movement preparation (intended reach force) or movement (executed reach force). To do so, we trained two macaque monkeys to perform a reaching task against alternating forces. We recorded the neural population activity in parallel from three areas of the reach network: the arm area of the primary motor cortex (M1), the dorsal premotor cortex (PMd) and the parietal reach region (PRR). Using a multi-class support vector machine decoder, we were able to decode the executed reach force in all three areas, but interestingly we were not able to decode the intended reach force in any of the areas. The results from our first study indicate that the reach network does not integrate force when preparing a reach movement for which the required force had to be inferred from the force of the previous reach.

The second study (Chapter 3) investigated if the primate fronto-parietal reach network encodes the reach effort, during the movement selection (intended reach effort). We trained one macaque monkey to perform an effort-guided reach selection task. The monkey learned to associate reaches toward one of two reach goals to be physically more effortful compared to the alternative reach goal, by applying forces to modulate reach effort. While the monkey performed the task, we recorded the neural population activity from the arm area of M1, PMd, and PRR. We were able to decode the reach effort in PMd and the arm area of M1 before a reach goal was selected. After a reach goal was selected and when the reach was executed, we were able to decode reach effort in all three areas of the reach network. The results from our second study suggest that the reach network integrates effort when preparing and selecting between reach movements, when the effort of a present trial had to be inferred from the effort of the previous reach.

4.1. Force information integration differs if force expectations are generated using visual or haptic information

The results from our first study, showed similarities and dissimilarities to past studies. Similar to observations made in the fronto-parietal grasp network (Intveld et al., 2018), we found that the all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network encode the executed reach force. Yet, none of the areas encoded the intended reach force. We argue that dissimilarities we observed could be related to the fact that there was no visual information provided to the animal that could have been used to predict forces. Instead, the animal had to infer the force of the present trial from the force of the previous trial, therefore force predictions relied on the sensorimotor memory. The sensorimotor memory is generated when, for instance, an object has been lifted before, and the predictions of the object weight are accurately stored (Johansson & Westling, 1984). When generated by applying an appropriate amount of force to successfully lift an object, the sensorimotor memory could remain stored, even when the duration between lifts were prolonged (Gordon et al., 1993). It has been hypothesized that the sensorimotor memory might be stored in primary motor cortex (Li et al., 2001) and the corticospinal system (Loh et al., 2010).

Expectations of an object's weight are often driven by visual properties of the objects, like object size (Buckingham, 2014; Saccone & Chouinard, 2019) or object material (Buckingham et al., 2009). Previous studies showed that fingertip force scaling (Buckingham et al., 2011) and grip force scaling (Dafotakis et al., 2008) relied on visual information. A study that supports our argument, that visual information influences force predictions, which could explain differences when force information is integrated was conducted by Dafotakis and colleagues (2008). Dafotakis and colleagues showed that when visual information of the object size was used to infer object weight, transcranial magnetic stimulation over PMv, but not the hand area of M1 or AIP, interfered with predictive force scaling of grip force. Newer studies, utilizing transcranial magnetic stimulation over the anterior intraparietal cortex, showed that AIP had a transient role during predictive force scaling, when force scaling was based on visual information (van Polanen et al., 2022). This could explain why Intveld and colleagues (2018) observed grasp force encoding during the movement preparation in PMv and AIP, but not the hand area of M1.

While these studies were conducted in the grasp network, studies with similar results, conducted in the reach network, can be found. Chouinard and colleagues (2005) showed that repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the primary motor cortex disrupted the scaling of forces based on haptic information inferred from a previous trial, while repetitive stimulation of the dorsal premotor cortex disrupted the scaling of forces based on visual information. This would suggest that the arm area of M1 and PMd play different roles in anticipatory force scaling. Since we did not provide the animal with visual information that could have been used to predict forces, PMd and PRR did not encode reach force during the movement preparation. Given the studies discussed in this section, we postulate that PMd and PRR should encode the intended reach force when the animal is provided with visual information that could be used to predict forces. We further argue that force predictions based on visual

information and haptic information are complementary processes used to optimize force predictions. This can be useful when the visual information did not allow to form correct weight expectations of an object, resulting in object weight to vary from the expected object weight. It has been shown that in such situations, when force predictions used to lift the object based on visual information were inaccurate, force predictions were adjusted within a few lifts to match the actual weight of the object (Flanagan et al., 2008; Flanagan & Beltzner, 2000; Grandy & Westwood, 2006). This would explain the behavioral results from our first study, were we observed that movement velocities adapted within two trials to changes of the force condition.

Other studies showed that object properties are estimated better when visual and haptic information is combined (Buckingham & Goodale, 2010; Ernst & Banks, 2002; Helbig & Ernst, 2007), which adds to the argument that visual information and haptic information are both used to optimize force predictions. It has been postulated that the sensorimotor system uses strategies that minimize the prediction error when an object's weight varied and object weight predictions could not be made accurately (Cashaback et al., 2017). It could therefore be assumed that sensorimotor system might be able to weigh visual and haptic information differently, whenever one could minimize the prediction error better than the other.

4.2. Force information integration differs in simple actions compared to action selections

While the arguments presented explained the results from our first study well, the arguments seemed to be less suited to explain the results from our second study. Here we studied force information integration when the sensorimotor system prepared and selected between two motor goals before executing the motor command. The results from our second study suggest that the sensorimotor system integrates the force information when preparing and selecting between reach

movements, even though the force information hat to be inferred from the previous trial. If we would use the former argument and applied it to our results from the second study, we would assume that the sensorimotor system does not integrate the force information when preparing and selecting between reach movements. Therefore, this argument seems less suited to explain the results from our second study. Even if argued that second study did not exclusively rely on haptic information since visual information was used to instruct motor goals, this does not explain our results entirely. This leads to the conclusion that force information integration seems to be different during action selection.

If we assume that decision processes are not separate from sensorimotor processes, it would make sense to presume that the sensorimotor system encodes all decision variables relevant for action selection. Previous studies showed that the frontoparietal reach network encodes benefit-related decisions variables (de Lafuente et al., 2015; Kubanek & Snyder, 2015; Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011; Ramkumar et al., 2016). Such benefit-related decisions variables can contribute to a biased competition when more than one reach goal is available (Pastor-Bernier & Cisek, 2011). During action selection the physical effort associated with an action is a crucial cost-related decision variable. One parameter that increases the reach effort of a reach movement, is force (Morel et al., 2017). Thus, force can be used to increase reach effort. If reach effort, as a decision variable, was encoded in the fronto-parietal reach network it should contribute to a biased competition in these areas. This would explain why we were able to decode, to a degree, the reach effort from areas PMd and M1 before a decision and from all three areas of the fronto-parietal reach network after the decision. We therefore postulate that force information integration might differ, depending on whether it is used in an action selection context or not.
Bibliography

- Ahmed, Z., Agha, N., Trunk, A., Berger, M., & Gail, A. (2022). Universal Guide for Skull Extraction and Custom-Fitting of Implants to Continuous and Discontinuous Skulls. *Eneuro*, 9(3), ENEURO.0028-22.2022. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0028-22.2022
- Andersen, R. A., Asanuma, C., Essick, G., & Siegel, R. M. (1990). Corticocortical connections of anatomically and physiologically defined subdivisions within the inferior parietal lobule. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 296(1), 65–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902960106
- Andersen, R. A., & Cui, H. (2009). Intention, Action Planning, and Decision Making in Parietal-Frontal Circuits. *Neuron*, 63(5), 568–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.028
- Armand, J., Olivier, E., Edgley, S. A., & Lemon, R. N. (1997). Postnatal Development of Corticospinal Projections from Motor Cortex to the Cervical Enlargement in the Macaque Monkey. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(1), 251–266. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-01-00251.1997
- Atique, M. U., & Francis, J. T. (2021). Mirror neurons are modulated by grip force and reward expectation in the sensorimotor cortices (S1, M1, PMd, PMv). *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 15959. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95536-z
- Batista, A. P., Buneo, C. A., Snyder, L. H., & Andersen, R. A. (1999). Reach Plans in Eye-Centered Coordinates. *Science*, 285(5425), 257–260. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.285.5425.257
- Baumann, M. A., Fluet, M.-C., & Scherberger, H. (2009). Context-Specific Grasp Movement Representation in the Macaque Anterior Intraparietal Area. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(20), 6436–6448. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5479-08.2009
- Bennett, K. M., & Lemon, R. N. (1994). The influence of single monkey corticomotoneuronal cells at different levels of activity in target muscles. *The Journal of Physiology*, 477(2), 291–307. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1994.sp020191
- Berger, M., Agha, N. S., & Gail, A. (2020). Wireless recording from unrestrained monkeys reveals motor goal encoding beyond immediate reach in frontoparietal cortex. *ELife*, 9. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51322
- Borra, E., Belmalih, A., Calzavara, R., Gerbella, M., Murata, A., Rozzi, S., & Luppino, G. (2008). Cortical Connections of the Macaque Anterior Intraparietal (AIP) Area. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(5), 1094–1111. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm146

- Borra, E., Belmalih, A., Gerbella, M., Rozzi, S., & Luppino, G. (2010). Projections of the hand field of the macaque ventral premotor area F5 to the brainstem and spinal cord. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, NA-NA. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22353
- Boudreau, M.-J., Brochier, T., Paré, M., & Smith, A. M. (2001). Activity in Ventral and Dorsal Premotor Cortex in Response to Predictable Force-Pulse Perturbations in a Precision Grip Task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 86(3), 1067–1078. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2001.86.3.1067
- Brochier, T., Boudreau, M.-J., Paré, M., & Smith, A. M. (1999). The effects of muscimol inactivation of small regions of motor and somatosensory cortex on independent finger movements and force control in the precision grip. *Experimental Brain Research*, *128*(1–2), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050814
- Brown, T. g, & Sherrington, C. S. (1912). On the instability of a cortical point. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character, 85(579), 250–277. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1912.0050
- Buckingham, G. (2014). Getting a grip on heaviness perception: a review of weight illusions and their probable causes. *Experimental Brain Research*, 232(6), 1623–1629. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-014-3926-9
- Buckingham, G., Cant, J. S., & Goodale, M. A. (2009). Living in A Material World: How Visual Cues to Material Properties Affect the Way That We Lift Objects and Perceive Their Weight. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *102*(6), 3111–3118. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00515.2009
- Buckingham, G., & Goodale, M. A. (2010). Lifting without Seeing: The Role of Vision in Perceiving and Acting upon the Size Weight Illusion. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3), e9709. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009709
- Buckingham, G., Ranger, N. S., & Goodale, M. A. (2011). The role of vision in detecting and correcting fingertip force errors during object lifting. *Journal of Vision*, 11(1), 4–4. https://doi.org/10.1167/11.1.4
- Buneo, C. A., Jarvis, M. R., Batista, A. P., & Andersen, R. A. (2002). Direct visuomotor transformations for reaching. *Nature*, 416(6881), 632–636. https://doi.org/10.1038/416632a
- Calton, J. L., Dickinson, A. R., & Snyder, L. H. (2002). Non-spatial, motor-specific activation in posterior parietal cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(6), 580–588. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn0602-862
- Cashaback, J. G. A., McGregor, H. R., Pun, H. C. H., Buckingham, G., & Gribble, P. L. (2017). Does the sensorimotor system minimize prediction error or select the most likely prediction during object lifting? *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *117*(1), 260–274. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00609.2016

- Chen, J., Reitzen, S. D., Kohlenstein, J. B., & Gardner, E. P. (2009). Neural Representation of Hand Kinematics During Prehension in Posterior Parietal Cortex of the Macaque Monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *102*(6), 3310–3328. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90942.2008
- Cheney, P. D., & Fetz, E. E. (1980). Functional classes of primate corticomotoneuronal cells and their relation to active force. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 44(4), 773–791. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1980.44.4.773
- Chouinard, P. A., Leonard, G., & Paus, T. (2005). Role of the Primary Motor and Dorsal Premotor Cortices in the Anticipation of Forces during Object Lifting. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(9), 2277–2284. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4649-04.2005
- Christopoulos, V. N., Bonaiuto, J., Kagan, I., & Andersen, R. A. (2015). Inactivation of Parietal Reach Region Affects Reaching But Not Saccade Choices in Internally Guided Decisions. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(33), 11719–11728. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1068-15.2015
- Christopoulos, V. N., Kagan, I., & Andersen, R. A. (2018). Lateral intraparietal area (LIP) is largely effector-specific in free-choice decisions. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 8611. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26366-9
- Cisek, P. (2007). Cortical mechanisms of action selection: the affordance competition hypothesis. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *362*(1485), 1585–1599. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2054
- Cisek, P., Crammond, D. J., & Kalaska, J. F. (2003). Neural Activity in Primary Motor and Dorsal Premotor Cortex In Reaching Tasks With the Contralateral Versus Ipsilateral Arm. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(2), 922–942. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00607.2002
- Cisek, P., & Kalaska, J. F. (2002). Simultaneous Encoding of Multiple Potential Reach Directions in Dorsal Premotor Cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 87(2), 1149–1154. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00443.2001
- Cisek, P., & Kalaska, J. F. (2005). Neural Correlates of Reaching Decisions in Dorsal Premotor Cortex: Specification of Multiple Direction Choices and Final Selection of Action. *Neuron*, 45(5), 801–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.01.027
- Cisek, P., & Kalaska, J. F. (2010). Neural Mechanisms for Interacting with a World Full of Action Choices. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 33(1), 269–298. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135409
- Coallier, É., Michelet, T., & Kalaska, J. F. (2015). Dorsal premotor cortex: neural correlates of reach target decisions based on a color-location matching rule and conflicting sensory evidence. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *113*(10), 3543–3573. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00166.2014

- Crammond, D. J., & Kalaska, J. F. (1994). Modulation of preparatory neuronal activity in dorsal premotor cortex due to stimulus-response compatibility. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *71*(3), 1281–1284. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1994.71.3.1281
- Crammond, D. J., & Kalaska, J. F. (2000). Prior Information in Motor and Premotor Cortex: Activity During the Delay Period and Effect on Pre-Movement Activity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 84(2), 986–1005. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.84.2.986
- Dafotakis, M., Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Karbe, H., Fink, G. R., & Nowak, D. A. (2008). Effects of rTMS on grip force control following subcortical stroke. *Experimental Neurology*, 211(2), 407–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.02.018
- Dann, B., Michaels, J. A., Schaffelhofer, S., & Scherberger, H. (2016). Uniting functional network topology and oscillations in the fronto-parietal single unit network of behaving primates. *ELife*, 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.15719
- Davare, M., Andres, M., Clerget, E., Thonnard, J.-L., & Olivier, E. (2007). Temporal Dissociation between Hand Shaping and Grip Force Scaling in the Anterior Intraparietal Area. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(15), 3974–3980. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0426-07.2007
- de Lafuente, V., Jazayeri, M., & Shadlen, M. N. (2015). Representation of Accumulating Evidence for a Decision in Two Parietal Areas. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(10), 4306– 4318. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2451-14.2015
- Desmurget, M., Reilly, K. T., Richard, N., Szathmari, A., Mottolese, C., & Sirigu, A. (2009). Movement Intention After Parietal Cortex Stimulation in Humans. *Science*, 324(5928), 811–813. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1169896
- Dum, R., & Strick, P. (1991). The origin of corticospinal projections from the premotor areas in the frontal lobe. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(3), 667–689. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.11-03-00667.1991
- Dum, R., & Strick, P. (2002). Motor areas in the frontal lobe of the primate. *Physiology & Behavior*, 77(4–5), 677–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(02)00929-0
- Ehrsson, H. H., Fagergren, A., Johansson, R. S., & Forssberg, H. (2003). Evidence for the Involvement of the Posterior Parietal Cortex in Coordination of Fingertip Forces for Grasp Stability in Manipulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 90(5), 2978–2986. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00958.2002
- Ernst, M. O., & Banks, M. S. (2002). Humans integrate visual and haptic information in a statistically optimal fashion. *Nature*, 415(6870), 429–433. https://doi.org/10.1038/415429a
- Evarts, E. v. (1968). Relation of pyramidal tract activity to force exerted during voluntary movement. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 31(1), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1968.31.1.14

- Evarts, E. v., Fromm, C., Kroller, J., & Jennings, V. A. (1983). Motor Cortex control of finely graded forces. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 49(5), 1199–1215. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1983.49.5.1199
- Ferraina, S., Paré, M., & Wurtz, R. H. (2002). Comparison of Cortico-Cortical and Cortico-Collicular Signals for the Generation of Saccadic Eye Movements. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 87(2), 845–858. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00317.2001
- Ferrari-Toniolo, S., Visco-Comandini, F., Papazachariadis, O., Caminiti, R., & Battaglia-Mayer, A. (2015). Posterior Parietal Cortex Encoding of Dynamic Hand Force Underlying Hand-Object Interaction. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(31), 10899–10910. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4696-14.2015
- Flanagan, J. R., & Beltzner, M. A. (2000). Independence of perceptual and sensorimotor predictions in the size-weight illusion. *Nature Neuroscience*, 3(7), 737–741. https://doi.org/10.1038/76701
- Flanagan, J. R., Bittner, J. P., & Johansson, R. S. (2008). Experience Can Change Distinct Size-Weight Priors Engaged in Lifting Objects and Judging their Weights. *Current Biology*, 18(22), 1742–1747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.09.042
- Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., Buccino, G., Craighero, L., Fadiga, L., & Rizzolati, G. (2001). Cortical mechanism for the visual guidance of hand grasping movements in the monkey: A reversible inactivation study. *Brain*, 124(3), 571–586. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/124.3.571
- Gail, A., & Andersen, R. A. (2006). Neural Dynamics in Monkey Parietal Reach Region Reflect Context-Specific Sensorimotor Transformations. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(37), 9376–9384. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1570-06.2006
- Gail, A., Klaes, C., & Westendorff, S. (2009). Implementation of Spatial Transformation Rules for Goal-Directed Reaching via Gain Modulation in Monkey Parietal and Premotor Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(30), 9490–9499. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1095-09.2009
- Gallese, V., Murata, A., Kaseda, M., Niki, N., & Sakata, H. (1994). Deficit of hand preshaping after muscimol injection in monkey parietal cortex. *NeuroReport*, 5(12), 1525–1529. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199407000-00029
- Galletti, C., Fattori, P., Kutz, D. F., & Battaglini, P. P. (1997). Arm Movement-related Neurons in the Visual Area V6A of the Macaque Superior Parietal Lobule. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 9(2), 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.1997.tb01410.x
- Galletti, C., Kutz, D. F., Gamberini, M., Breveglieri, R., & Fattori, P. (2003). Role of the medial parieto-occipital cortex in the control of reaching and grasping movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, 153(2), 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1589-z

- Georgopoulos, A., Kalaska, J., Caminiti, R., & Massey, J. (1982). On the relations between the direction of two-dimensional arm movements and cell discharge in primate motor cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 2(11), 1527–1537. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.02-11-01527.1982
- Glimcher, P. W. (2003). THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF VISUAL-SACCADIC DECISION MAKING. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *26*(1), 133–179. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.26.010302.081134
- Godschalk, M., Lemon, R. N., Kuypers, H. G. J. M., & Ronday, H. K. (1984). Cortical afferents and efferents of monkey postarcuate area: an anatomical and electrophysiological study. *Experimental Brain Research*, 56(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00237982
- Gold, J. I., & Shadlen, M. N. (2007). The Neural Basis of Decision Making. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30(1), 535–574. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.113038
- Goldring, A. B., Cooke, D. F., Pineda, C. R., Recanzone, G. H., & Krubitzer, L. A. (2022). Functional characterization of the fronto-parietal reaching and grasping network: reversible deactivation of M1 and areas 2, 5, and 7b in awake behaving monkeys. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 127(5), 1363–1387. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00279.2021
- Goodale, M. A. (2014). How (and why) the visual control of action differs from visual perception. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1785), 20140337. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.0337
- Goodale, M. A., Meenan, J. P., Bülthoff, H. H., Nicolle, D. A., Murphy, K. J., & Racicot, C. I. (1994). Separate neural pathways for the visual analysis of object shape in perception and prehension. *Current Biology*, 4(7), 604–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00132-9
- Goodale, M. A., & Milner, A. D. (1992). Separate visual pathways for perception and action. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 15(1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(92)90344-8
- Gordon, A. M., Westling, G., Cole, K. J., & Johansson, R. S. (1993). Memory representations underlying motor commands used during manipulation of common and novel objects. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(6), 1789–1796. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1993.69.6.1789
- Grandy, M. S., & Westwood, D. A. (2006). Opposite Perceptual and Sensorimotor Responses to a Size-Weight Illusion. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 95(6), 3887–3892. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00851.2005
- Graziano, M. S. A., Taylor, C. S. R., & Moore, T. (2002). Complex Movements Evoked by Microstimulation of Precentral Cortex. *Neuron*, 34(5), 841–851. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00698-0

- Graziano, M. S. A., Taylor, C. S. R., Moore, T., & Cooke, D. F. (2002). The Cortical Control of Movement Revisited. *Neuron*, 36(3), 349–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)01003-6
- Hamel-Pâquet, C., Sergio, L. E., & Kalaska, J. F. (2006). Parietal Area 5 Activity Does Not Reflect the Differential Time-Course of Motor Output Kinetics During Arm-Reaching and Isometric-Force Tasks. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 95(6), 3353–3370. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00789.2005
- He, S., Dum, R., & Strick, P. (1993). Topographic organization of corticospinal projections from the frontal lobe: motor areas on the lateral surface of the hemisphere. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 13(3), 952–980. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-03-00952.1993
- Helbig, H. B., & Ernst, M. O. (2007). Optimal integration of shape information from vision and touch. *Experimental Brain Research*, 179(4), 595–606. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-006-0814-y
- Heming, E. A., Lillicrap, T. P., Omrani, M., Herter, T. M., Pruszynski, J. A., & Scott, S. H. (2016). Primary motor cortex neurons classified in a postural task predict muscle activation patterns in a reaching task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *115*(4), 2021–2032. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00971.2015
- Hendrix, C. M., Mason, C. R., & Ebner, T. J. (2009). Signaling of Grasp Dimension and Grasp Force in Dorsal Premotor Cortex and Primary Motor Cortex Neurons During Reach to Grasp in the Monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *102*(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00016.2009
- Hepp-Reymond, M. C., Hüsler, E. J., Maier, M. A., & Qi, H.-X. (1994). Force-related neuronal activity in two regions of the primate ventral premotor cortex. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 72(5), 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1139/y94-081
- Hepp-Reymond, M. C., & Wiesendanger, M. (1972). Unilateral pyramidotomy in monkeys: Effect on force and speed of a conditioned precision grip. *Brain Research*, 36(1), 117– 131. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(72)90770-6
- Hepp-Reymond, M. C., Wyss, U. R., & Anner, R. (1978). Neuronal coding of static force in the primate motor cortex. *Journal de Physiologie*, 74(3), 287–291.
- Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., Kirkpatrick-Tanner, M., Gabernet, L., Qi, H.-X., & Weber, B. (1999). Context-dependent force coding in motor and premotor cortical areas. *Experimental Brain Research*, 128(1–2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050827
- Hoffman, D. S., & Luschei, E. S. (1980). Responses of monkey precentral cortical cells during a controlled jaw bite task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 44(2), 333–348. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1980.44.2.333

- Hwang, E. J., Hauschild, M., Wilke, M., & Andersen, R. A. (2012). Inactivation of the Parietal Reach Region Causes Optic Ataxia, Impairing Reaches but Not Saccades. *Neuron*, 76(5), 1021–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.030
- Hwang, E. J., Hauschild, M., Wilke, M., & Andersen, R. A. (2014). Spatial and Temporal Eye-Hand Coordination Relies on the Parietal Reach Region. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(38), 12884–12892. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3719-13.2014
- Intveld, R. W., Dann, B., Michaels, J. A., & Scherberger, H. (2018). Neural coding of intended and executed grasp force in macaque areas AIP, F5, and M1. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 17985. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35488-z
- Janssen, P., & Scherberger, H. (2015). Visual Guidance in Control of Grasping. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 38(1), 69–86. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-034028
- Jeannerod, M., Arbib, M. A., Rizzolatti, G., & Sakata, H. (1995). Grasping objects: the cortical mechanisms of visuomotor transformation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 18(7), 314–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(95)93921-J
- Johansson, R. S., & Westling, G. (1984). Roles of glabrous skin receptors and sensorimotor memory in automatic control of precision grip when lifting rougher or more slippery objects. *Experimental Brain Research*, 56(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00237997
- Johnson, P. B., Ferraina, S., Bianchi, L., & Caminiti, R. (1996). Cortical Networks for Visual Reaching: Physiological and Anatomical Organization of Frontal and Parietal Lobe Arm Regions. *Cerebral Cortex*, 6(2), 102–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/6.2.102
- Kalaska, J. F., Cohen, D. A. D., Prud'homme, M., & Hyde, M. L. (1990). Parietal area 5 neuronal activity encodes movement kinematics, not movement dynamics. *Experimental Brain Research*, 80(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00228162
- Kalaska, J. F., & Crammond, D. J. (1992). Cerebral Cortical Mechanisms of Reaching Movements. Science, 255(5051), 1517–1523. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1549781
- Kalaska, J. F., & Crammond, D. J. (1995). Deciding Not to GO: Neuronal Correlates of Response Selection in a GO/NOGO Task in Primate Premotor and Parietal Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 5(5), 410–428. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/5.5.410
- Kalaska, J. F., & Hyde, M. L. (1985). Area 4 and area 5: differences between the load direction-dependent discharge variability of cells during active postural fixation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 59(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00237679
- Keisker, B., Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., Blickenstorfer, A., & Kollias, S. S. (2010). Differential representation of dynamic and static power grip force in the sensorimotor network. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(8), 1483–1491. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07172.x

- Keisker, B., Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., Blickenstorfer, A., Meyer, M., & Kollias, S. S. (2009). Differential force scaling of fine-graded power grip force in the sensorimotor network. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(8), 2453–2465. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20676
- Klaes, C., Schneegans, S., Schöner, G., & Gail, A. (2012). Sensorimotor Learning Biases Choice Behavior: A Learning Neural Field Model for Decision Making. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 8(11), e1002774. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002774
- Klaes, C., Westendorff, S., Chakrabarti, S., & Gail, A. (2011). Choosing Goals, Not Rules: Deciding among Rule-Based Action Plans. *Neuron*, 70(3), 536–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.053
- Kubanek, J., & Snyder, L. H. (2015). Reward-Based Decision Signals in Parietal Cortex Are Partially Embodied. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(12), 4869–4881. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4618-14.2015
- Kurata, K. (2010). Conditional Selection of Contra- and Ipsilateral Forelimb Movements by the Dorsal Premotor Cortex in Monkeys. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 103(1), 262– 277. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.91241.2008
- Kurata, K., & Hoffman, D. S. (1994). Differential effects of muscimol microinjection into dorsal and ventral aspects of the premotor cortex of monkeys. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 71(3), 1151–1164. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1994.71.3.1151
- Lehmann, S. J., & Scherberger, H. (2013). Reach and Gaze Representations in Macaque Parietal and Premotor Grasp Areas. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(16), 7038–7049. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5568-12.2013
- Lehmann, S. J., & Scherberger, H. (2015). Spatial Representations in Local Field Potential Activity of Primate Anterior Intraparietal Cortex (AIP). *PLOS ONE*, 10(11), e0142679. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142679
- Lemon, R. N., Mantel, G. W., & Muir, R. B. (1986). Corticospinal facilitation of hand muscles during voluntary movement in the conscious monkey. *The Journal of Physiology*, 381(1), 497–527. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1986.sp016341
- Leyton, A. S. F., & Sherrington, C. S. (1917). OBSERVATIONS ON THE EXCITABLE CORTEX OF THE CHIMPANZEE, ORANG-UTAN, AND GORILLA. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Physiology*, 11(2), 135–222. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.1917.sp000240
- Li, C.-S. R., Padoa-Schioppa, C., & Bizzi, E. (2001). Neuronal Correlates of Motor Performance and Motor Learning in the Primary Motor Cortex of Monkeys Adapting to an External Force Field. *Neuron*, 30(2), 593–607. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00301-4
- Loh, M. N., Kirsch, L., Rothwell, J. C., Lemon, R. N., & Davare, M. (2010). Information about the weight of grasped objects from vision and internal models interacts within the

primary motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(20), 6984–6990. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6207-09.2010

- Luppino, G., Murata, A., Govoni, P., & Matelli, M. (1999). Largely segregated parietofrontal connections linking rostral intraparietal cortex (areas AIP and VIP) and the ventral premotor cortex (areas F5 and F4). *Experimental Brain Research*, *128*(1–2), 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050833
- Maier, M. A., Armand, J., Kirkwood, H. W., Davis, J. N., & Lemon, R. N. (2002). Differences in the Corticospinal Projection from Primary Motor Cortex and Supplementary Motor Area to Macaque Upper Limb Motoneurons: An Anatomical and Electrophysiological Study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 12(3), 281–296. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/12.3.281
- Maier, M. A., Bennett, K. M., Hepp-Reymond, M. C., & Lemon, R. N. (1993). Contribution of the monkey corticomotoneuronal system to the control of force in precision grip. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 69(3), 772–785. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1993.69.3.772
- Maris, E., & Oostenveld, R. (2007). Nonparametric statistical testing of EEG- and MEGdata. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 164(1), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2007.03.024
- Matelli, M., & Luppino, G. (2001). Parietofrontal Circuits for Action and Space Perception in the Macaque Monkey. *NeuroImage*, 14(1), S27–S32. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0835
- Maunsell, J. H., & Newsome, W. T. (1987). Visual Processing In Monkey Extrastriate Cortex. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *10*(1), 363–401. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.10.1.363
- Menz, V. K., Schaffelhofer, S., & Scherberger, H. (2015). Representation of continuous hand and arm movements in macaque areas M1, F5, and AIP: a comparative decoding study. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 12(5), 056016. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/12/5/056016
- Mishkin, M., Ungerleider, L. G., & Macko, K. A. (1983). Object vision and spatial vision: two cortical pathways. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 6, 414–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(83)90190-X
- Morel, P. (2018). Gramm: grammar of graphics plotting in Matlab. *The Journal of Open Source Software*, *3*(23), 568. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00568
- Morel, P., Ferrea, E., Taghizadeh-Sarshouri, B., Audí, J. M. C., Ruff, R., Hoffmann, K.-P., Lewis, S., Russold, M., Dietl, H., Abu-Saleh, L., Schroeder, D., Krautschneider, W., Meiners, T., & Gail, A. (2016). Long-term decoding of movement force and direction with a wireless myoelectric implant. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 13(1), 016002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/13/1/016002

- Morel, P., Ulbrich, P., & Gail, A. (2017). What makes a reach movement effortful? Physical effort discounting supports common minimization principles in decision making and motor control. *PLOS Biology*, 15(6), e2001323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001323
- Muakkassa, K. F., & Strick, P. L. (1979). Frontal lobe inputs to primate motor cortex: evidence for four somatotopically organized 'premotor' areas. *Brain Research*, *177*(1), 176–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(79)90928-4
- Murata, A., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Gallese, V., Raos, V., & Rizzolatti, G. (1997). Object Representation in the Ventral Premotor Cortex (Area F5) of the Monkey. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 78(4), 2226–2230. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1997.78.4.2226
- Murata, A., Gallese, V., Luppino, G., Kaseda, M., & Sakata, H. (2000). Selectivity for the Shape, Size, and Orientation of Objects for Grasping in Neurons of Monkey Parietal Area AIP. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 83(5), 2580–2601. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2000.83.5.2580
- Nowak, D. A., Berner, J., Herrnberger, B., Kammer, T., Grön, G., & Schönfeldt-Lecuona, C. (2009). Continuous theta-burst stimulation over the dorsal premotor cortex interferes with associative learning during object lifting. *Cortex*, 45(4), 473–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2007.11.010
- Neely, K. A., Coombes, S. A., Planetta, P. J., & Vaillancourt, D. E. (2011). Segregated and overlapping neural circuits exist for the production of static and dynamic precision grip force. *Human Brain Mapping*, n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21467
- Pastor-Bernier, A., & Cisek, P. (2011). Neural Correlates of Biased Competition in Premotor Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(19), 7083–7088. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5681-10.2011
- Quiroga, Q. R., Snyder, L. H., Batista, A. P., Cui, H., & Andersen, R. A. (2006). Movement Intention Is Better Predicted than Attention in the Posterior Parietal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(13), 3615–3620. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3468-05.2006
- Ramkumar, P., Dekleva, B., Cooler, S., Miller, L., & Kording, K. (2016). Premotor and Motor Cortices Encode Reward. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(8), e0160851. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160851
- Rathelot, J.-A., & Strick, P. L. (2006). Muscle representation in the macaque motor cortex: An anatomical perspective. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(21), 8257–8262. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0602933103
- Rizzolatti, G., Camarda, R., Fogassi, L., Gentilucci, M., Luppino, G., & Matelli, M. (1988). Functional organization of inferior area 6 in the macaque monkey. *Experimental Brain Research*, 71(3), 491–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00248742

- Rizzolatti, G., & Luppino, G. (2001). The Cortical Motor System. *Neuron*, *31*(6), 889–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00423-8
- Saccone, E. J., & Chouinard, P. A. (2019). The influence of size in weight illusions is unique relative to other object features. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 26(1), 77–89. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-018-1519-5
- Schaffelhofer, S., Agudelo-Toro, A., & Scherberger, H. (2015). Decoding a Wide Range of Hand Configurations from Macaque Motor, Premotor, and Parietal Cortices. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(3), 1068–1081. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3594-14.2015
- Scherberger, H., & Andersen, R. A. (2007). Target Selection Signals for Arm Reaching in the Posterior Parietal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(8), 2001–2012. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4274-06.2007
- Schmidlin, E., Brochier, T., Maier, M. A., Kirkwood, P. A., & Lemon, R. N. (2008). Pronounced Reduction of Digit Motor Responses Evoked from Macaque Ventral Premotor Cortex after Reversible Inactivation of the Primary Motor Cortex Hand Area. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(22), 5772–5783. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0944-08.2008
- Sergio, L. E., Hamel-Pâquet, C., & Kalaska, J. F. (2005). Motor Cortex Neural Correlates of Output Kinematics and Kinetics During Isometric-Force and Arm-Reaching Tasks. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 94(4), 2353–2378. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00989.2004
- Sergio, L. E., & Kalaska, J. F. (1997). Systematic Changes in Directional Tuning of Motor Cortex Cell Activity With Hand Location in the Workspace During Generation of Static Isometric Forces in Constant Spatial Directions. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 78(2), 1170–1174. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1997.78.2.1170
- Sergio, L. E., & Kalaska, J. F. (2003). Systematic Changes in Motor Cortex Cell Activity With Arm Posture During Directional Isometric Force Generation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(1), 212–228. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00016.2002
- Smith, A. M., Hepp-Reymond, M.-C., & Wyss, U. R. (1975). Relation of activity in precentral cortical neurons to force and rate of force change during isometric contractions of finger muscles. *Experimental Brain Research*, 23(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00239743
- Snyder, L. H., Batista, A. P., & Andersen, R. A. (1997). Coding of intention in the posterior parietal cortex. *Nature*, 386(6621), 167–170. https://doi.org/10.1038/386167a0
- Snyder, L. H., Batista, A. P., & Andersen, R. A. (2000). Intention-related activity in the posterior parietal cortex: a review. *Vision Research*, 40(10–12), 1433–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(00)00052-3
- Stepniewska, I., Gharbawie, O. A., Burish, M. J., & Kaas, J. H. (2014). Effects of muscimol inactivations of functional domains in motor, premotor, and posterior parietal cortex on

complex movements evoked by electrical stimulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *111*(5), 1100–1119. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00491.2013

- Sternberg, S. (1969). The discovery of processing stages: Extensions of Donders' method. *Acta Psychologica*, 30, 276–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-6918(69)90055-9
- Suriya-Arunroj, L., & Gail, A. (2019). Complementary encoding of priors in monkey frontoparietal network supports a dual process of decision-making. *ELife*, 8. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.47581
- Thach, W. T. (1978). Correlation of neural discharge with pattern and force of muscular activity, joint position, and direction of intended next movement in motor cortex and cerebellum. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *41*(3), 654–676. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1978.41.3.654
- Townsend, B. R., Subasi, E., & Scherberger, H. (2011). Grasp Movement Decoding from Premotor and Parietal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(40), 14386–14398. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2451-11.2011
- van Polanen, V., Buckingham, G., & Davare, M. (2022). The effects of TMS over the anterior intraparietal area on anticipatory fingertip force scaling and the size-weight illusion. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *128*(2), 290–301. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00265.2021
- van Polanen, V., Tibold, R., Nuruki, A., & Davare, M. (2019). Visual delay affects force scaling and weight perception during object lifting in virtual reality. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *121*(4), 1398–1409. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00396.2018
- Wannier, T. M., Maier, M. A., & Hepp-Reymond, M. C. (1991). Contrasting properties of monkey somatosensory and motor cortex neurons activated during the control of force in precision grip. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 65(3), 572–589. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1991.65.3.572
- Weinrich, M., & Wise, S. (1982). The premotor cortex of the monkey. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 2(9), 1329–1345. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.02-09-01329.1982
- Westendorff, S., Klaes, C., & Gail, A. (2010). The Cortical Timeline for Deciding on Reach Motor Goals. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(15), 5426–5436. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4628-09.2010

Affidavit

I hereby declare that I, Julia Wanda Nowak, have written this thesis, titled "Force information integration in the primate fronto-parietal reach network", independently and with no other aids and sources than quoted.

Date

Julia Wanda Nowak

Academic CV – Julia Wanda Nowak

EDUCATION

07/2018 - 11/2022	PhD (PhD thesis published 11/2023) Georg-August-University Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany
04/2013 - 03/2015	Master of Science Biology Johannes Gutenberg – University Mainz, Mainz, Germany
04/2009 - 03/2013	Bachelor of Science Biology Johannes Gutenberg – University Mainz, Mainz, Germany

CONFERENCES

Nowak, J., Morel, P., Gail, A. (2023). Intended reach effort, not intended reach force modulates planning-related neural activity in the primate fronto-parietal reach network. Primate Neurobiology Meeting 2023

Nowak, J., Morel, P., Gail, A. (2021). Movement force encoding in the fronto-parietal reach network in primates? 14th Göttingen Meeting of the German Neuroscience Society

Nowak, J., Morel, P., Gail, A. (2019). Encoding of movement force in the fronto-parietal reach network in primates. Primate Neurobiology Meeting 2019

Nowak, J., Morel, P., Gail, A. (2019). Encoding of movement force in the fronto-parietal reach network in primates. 13th Göttingen Meeting of the German Neuroscience Society

PUBLICATIONS

Nowak, J., Morel, P., Gail, A. (manuscript in preparation) Intended reach effort modulates planning-related neural activity in the primate fronto-parietal reach network.

Birkholz, O., Rickert, C., Nowak, J., Coban, I., Technau, G. (2015). Bridging the gap between postembryonic cell lineages and identified embryonic neuroblasts in the ventral nerve cord of Drosophila melanogaster. Biology Open 4, 420-434